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INTRODUCTIORN

This report is interim in that it encempasses invesligation by the Commission up
upkil, and including, 15 June 2006, The Cormrmission has been prevered from
carmying out its tenms of reference in full due to the circumstances sef oul in Part
F below. The repon is divided into nine parts. Part A highlights the background
to the Cil-For-Food Programme in irag ("the Programme”). Pail B 15 a summary
of 8 Report on Frogremme Manipulation by the Independent Inguiry Commitiee
{"the [IC Reporl” or "the repert”) which was commissioned by the United Nations
{"the LIN"), Part C contains certain inferences which the |IC Raport as well as
documentation provided to the Commission by the |IC and the Deparments of
Minerals and Energy ("the DOME"} and Foreign Affairs ("the DFA™} can syskain

Part D deals with a request 1o extend the Commission's terms of reference.
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Paossibla recommendations by the Commission based solely on decumentation
analysed to date are included in Part E. Part T deals with limitations which have
been placed on the execution of the Commission's terms of reference by
circumstances which have arisen since itz appointment. Part G is an illustrative
analysiz of certain documentation relating fo three companies and two individuals
in support of inferences drawn in Parts A to F.  Part H deals with certain
information; regarding the Iragis surcharge requirements during the Programme,
which is within the possession of the DME. Pari | focuses on the role of the
Pemanent Mission of South Africa to the UN (*the Mission™) in monitoring illicit
activities by South African participaniz in the Programme, The aim of the
conclusion of the report is to address cenain requests to the President and afso
to identify outstanding arems of investigation which are required by the
Commission's tems of reference ("the tems of reference”). before a final report
can be submitted. Documents referred to in this report, in the form of two
addenda, will be submitted in due course’. For convenience certain
observations by and comments of the Commission, as well as information
introduced en paszant by the Commission ars printed in bold®. Significant

words and phrazes have been underlined by the Cemmizzion for emphaszis,

Acddendum One will conrain capics of thage documants relisd mpon and izlenti il in e fooinotes
i Part Ci. Addendum Two will contein documents idemified in the index to thet file, which
documents hive  hesn redisd span in the remainioe pam of this scport and whicl a2 pot
necessisily identified in the fexr or toomotes, such 20 indictnients by the Uiiced Srates Ateonicy
which have nat been cited in full,

Part 17 iz devoted in fte entivety to strbereats made by the Commisson and hald print s not relied
an



PART A

BACKGROUND TGO THE OIL-FOR-FOODL-PROGRAMME

[1.]

(2]

£.1

On & Avgust 19890 the Uniled Mations Security Council (‘the GCouncil)
adopted Resolution BE61, which imposed comprehensive economis
sanctions on Irag following that country's invasion of Kuwait. ‘The Counell
acted under Chapter V1| of the Charer of the United II"-Iaticms {"the
Charter”). more particulary Aricles 39 and 41 thereof, which {ogether
authorize the Council 1o detemine the existence of any threat to peace,
breach of the peace, or act of aggression, and to decide on measures. not
involving the use of armed force, to be employed to give effect to (s
decisions. Ardicle 41 authorises the Council to call upon members of the
UM to apply such measures, including complete or partial interrupfion of
economic relations, In terms of Aricle 25 members are bound to accept

and carry oul such decisions of the Council in accordance with the

Charter.

Fesolution 661 imposed the following chbligations on mamber siates,

A prohibition was placed on the impon inte the territory of the state of all

commodities and products originating in Irag (or Kuwait) or exported from

thare,
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States were bound o prevent any activibes by their nationals or in their
territories which would promote or were calculated to promole the expor

or trens-shipment of any commedities or products from lrag.

Significantly (for the purposes of this report), states were prohibited from
making available to the Government of Irag. or to any commercial or
industrial or public utility undertaking in Irag, any funds or any other

financial or economic resources. Furthermore, states were bound to

prevent their nationals and any persons within their territories from making

or_resources and from remiting any other funds to persons or bodies

within_Irag, except payment exclusively for medical or humanitarian

purposes and, in humanilaran circumstances, foodstufis.

Resolution 661 also established a Committes of the Council {"the E61
Committee™ consisting of all its members, to examine repors on the
progress of implementation of the resolution and to seek further

infermation from all states regarding action taken by them lo implement

the re=olufion.

Between 10 and 17 March 1281 a mission despatched by the Secretany-
Genaral of the UN to assess humanitarian needs ariging in rag reported
that "the Iragi people may 2oon face a further imminent catastrophe, which

could include epidemic and famine, |f massive life supporting needs are
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not rapidly met™ A humanitarian tragedy did result”. This situstion
raized a contradictlon between the fundamental purpose of the UM,
contained in artcle {1} of the Charter viz. the maintenanca of
intarnational peace and security and the reaffirmation contained in
the praambia to the Charter, of the faith of the Peoples of the Unitad

Nations In fundamental human rights and tha dignity and worth of

the human person.

The comprehansive economic sanchions remained in place for six years
until they were padially lifted by the adoption of Resclution SBE (1955}
which effectively established the Programme in Irag. Acting under
Chapter VIl the Council aimed to Hift economic sanctions In parl as a

temporary measure to provide for the humanitarian needs of the lrag

people unfil frag had fulfiled other relevant Council resolutions.  This
temporary measure had endured for 5 years before the illicit activities
under Investigation took place. By thal time the extent of Saddam
Hussein's remaining milftary capacity was in dispule, The officially
approved assistance being rendered had, by that time, gone beyond what
ls strictly speaking regarded as humanitarian. It included infrastructure
rehabilitation and activities in twenly four seclors. infer aba, sleciricity,
agriculture, irrigation, education, transport and lelecommunications. The

Office of the Irag Programme (“the OIP"), on behalf of the Secretariat of

Hea LIW CHtice of the Img Programme Information Dosinent which makes refirencs Wi R325606,

pir 27, Decument 1% s Addeadurs Twol.

It is desaribed in the [IC Repar of T Sepiember 2002 {Management of Chil-Far-Famt Programme
Val T-Chapicr 1 pp 79060 8100,



[6]

[71

[E]

&
the UN°, was responsible for the overall management and cogrdination of
the UN humanitarian activities. Mine UM agencies were responsible for

implementing the Programme in the three Northemn Governates.

In the preamble o Resolution 8986 the Council expressed its concem for

the saernous nufritional and health situation of the Iragi population, as wall

as its conviction of the need for a temporary measure 1o provide for their

humanitarian needs until the fulfiment of previous Council resolutions,

notably Resolution 687 (1891) of 3 April 1881,

This resalution effectively allowed the Council to take further action with
regard to prohibitions In Resolution 881 until the Council had been
zatizfied that Irag had unconditionally accepted the destruction, removal o1
rendering harmmless, under intarnational supervigion, of all its chemical and
biological weapons, all its stocks of agents and all itz research
develppment, support and manufacturing facilities related hereto as well
as all s ballistic missiles with 2 range greater than 150 kilometres
Furthermore, Iraq was required to give unconditional undertakings in. this

regard and in regard fo the development of nuciear weapons.

The Iragq disarmament fite has sfill not been closed because both the
International Atomic Energy Agebcy (“the |AEA"} and United Malions

Maonitoring, Verfication and Inspection Commission ("the UNMOWIC") are

Indcgms of Amtele 7 of the Ularter. the Secretarine s one af the prncipel organs of the LA che

otivers betitg the Coungil; the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Councit, & Trusteealin
Council and the Intermatiaonal Courl of Tustice,
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net in a position to retum to Irag under currant political circumstances. UM
weapon 2anchions are therefore still in place, However, from the update
report of the 1AEA to the Council on 27 January 2003, and the report of
the GlA-led lrag Survey Group (generally referred to as the Deulfer

Report). dated March 20035, it appears that during the period of the

Programme sanctions were being directed at Saddam Hussein's stratedic

intent and |lack of co-operation rather than his actual military capabilities

Resolution 986 reaffirmed the commitment of all member states o the

soveraignty and territorial integrity of lrag.

The provigions of Resolution B86 came {o be the rules of the Programme.
Between December 1986 and December 2002 the Council adopted a
series of resolutions that reauthorized the Programme for 13 phases of

opearation, with each one enduring for approximately 180 days.

The Programme, which was confirmed in 2 Memorandum of
Understanding ("the MOU" concluded between the UN and the

Government of lrag on 20 May 1896 was set out in Resolution 986.

States were pemmitted to import petroleum and petroleum products

originating in Irag, and o csmy out financial and other essential

transactions directly related therato.
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11.3

11.4

i
frag could sell up to S 5 1 billion of crude il every ninety days for the

purposes sel out in fhe resolution (viz. the supply of humanitarian needs {o

the Iragi people) and subect to the condilions spelt out in the resolution®.

The first oil under the Programme was exported on 10 December 1996,
For the first three “sid month phases’ the Council set 8 ceiling of two billien
doltars on oil expords in 2ach phase. For Phases 4 and 5 the ceiling was
raised to US § 5, 2 billlon but the low price of ail 2nd the state of Irag's oil
industry put that out of reach. In Phase 6, the Council, by way of
Resalution 1266 [1994), addressed the earier shortfalls and permitted

Iraq to export an additional US 5 3 billion worth of oil.  Council Resolution

1284 (1999 removed the celling on Iragi oil exports.

Frocedures for purchases of oil and humanitarian goods were established,
The State Oil Marketing Organization of Irag (*SOMO™ and the UN Oil
Overseers ("the Qil Overseers’) would agree from tima fo fime on an
official selling price of crude oil ("the O5P"} which was fixed for a time
period. The selling price of humanitarian goods was agresad between
tendering companies and a8 ministry of the Government of Irag. The

cantracts required the approval of the 661 Committes,

States ware bound to take any steps that were necessary under their
domeslic legal =ystems 1o assure thal petroleum and petroleum products

subject to Resolution 286 would be immune from legal proceedings, "and

See paragranh 1 of Hesolution 986,
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io ensure the procseds of the sale {of pelroleum were] nof diveried from

the purposes laid down in this resolution” .

Resojutlon 1538 (2004]

[12.]

[13]

Curing 2004 Resolution 1538 was adopled by the Council to endarse the
appointment of 2 high level inquiry, the Independent Inguiry Committes
["the [IC7), fo investigate the admimstration and managemeant of the
Frogramme In [raq.  This resolulion affirmed that any illicit activity by UN
officials, personnel and agents, as well as contractors, including entities
that had entered into contracts under the Programme were unacceptable.
The Council called upon the Coalition Provisional Authority, Irag, and all
other member states, including their national regulatory authorities, to co-
operate fully with the enguiry by all appropriate means. The |IC started its
investigation in April 2004. |t consisted of three members assisted by the
staff of the UN. The IIC was chaired by Paul Volcker, a fonmer United
States Federal Resarve Chairman. The two other committee members

were Richard Goldstone (8 former South African Judge) and Mark Piath (a

Swiss Professor of Law).

The mandate of the [IC was expressed as follows:

"The independent inguiry shall collect and examine information

relating to the administration and management of the Oik-for-Food

Sex parngriph 14 of Eesalumion 586
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Programme, including alleqations of fraud &nd corruption on the

part of United Nations officials, persennel and agents, as well as

eontraclors, including entities that have entered inte contracts with

the United Nations or with Irag under the Programime:

To determine whether the procedurss established by the

Crganization, including Ihe Security Coupcil and the Security
Council Commitiee established by Resolution 681 (1990)
concerning the Situation between lWiag and Kuwall {herelnafler
referred fo as the '661 Committee’) for the processing and approval

of contracts under the Programme, and the monitering of the sale

and dehvery of petroleum and petroleum  products and the

purchase and delivery of humanitarian goods, were viclated,

bearing in mind the respective roles of United Mations officials.
personnel and agents. as well as entities thal have entered into

contracts with the United Nations or with [rag under the

Programme:;

To determine whether any United Nations officials, personnel,

agents or contractors engaced In any et or corrupl activities in

the camying out of their respective roles In relation to the

Frograrmme, including, for example, bribery in relation to oil sales,

abuses in regard to surcharges on oll sales and illicil payments in

regard to purchases of humanilarian goods:




[14.]

[15.]

ey To determine whether the accounts of the Programme were in
order and were maintained in accordance with the relevant

Financisl Regulations 2nd Rules of the United Mations".

On 27 October 2005 the |IC Repot was released. This was
accompanied by 2 set of eight comprehensive tables identifying
contractore under the Programme and other sctorz of significance to
Programme transactions, such as non-contractual beneficiaries of lragl oll
allocations and pariies that financed oil transactions’. The fables are
referred to below according to the number given to them by the NIC,
Certain allegedly South African companies and individuals were listed in
lhe tables as having parteken in illicit activities relating to ol or
humanitanan goods ransactions under the Programme.  In the narrative
the report identified certain role players who were alf&g&dty South

African nationals and were alleged to be politicel beneficiares.

The report amounts to the documentation of & fact finding exercise
which the IIC undertock. The lIC is not an orgen of the UN. No legal
consequences can be attached o Its findings. MWor are the findings
the subject of & binding Council rezoalution under Chapter Vil. In a
press release the Secretane-General of the UN “called on Member States

to take aclion against iliegal practices by companles under their

The tables are acoessible on the 1O = website 6t bitpieew aic-nlTpaong,
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jurisdiction and o prevent recurrences”. He also hoped that "national
autharities will take steps to prevent the recurrence of such praclices in
the future, and that they will take action. where appropriate against
companies falling within their junsdiction™. This Commission was
apparenily appoinied by the President pursuant to the Secretary-
General's expectation'”. The approach of the Commission to the
interpretation of its mandate and the recommendatione which it is

required to make in due course is infused with tha spirit of his

raguest.

Defining illicit activities under the Prograrmmea

[16.] The |C defined illicit activities with raference {o the rules and pr ures

governing fransactions as provided for by Resolutions 661 and SBE.

[17] The state concerned had o submil an applicetion, endorsed by the

Government of lrag for each proposed purchase of Iragi petroleum, o the

661 Committes, In order to ensure the transparency of each fransaction

and its conformity with the other provisions of Resclution 886, each

application had lo include detalls of the purchase price al fair market

value, the export roule, and the opening of a letter of credit, payable to an

Pross release availaole a1 hogpedseana lc=afTporwslary 2 Toclil 5.him
See Crazedle Mo, PESTR of 1T Fehmzane 516
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[18.]

4,1

escrow gocolnl o be esiablished by the Secrelary-Gen
{tne UN-Escraw Account’), dor the porpose of any fin:
frangachion cared out in ferms of the resalubon’. Pay
amalnt of each purchase. of Iragl petroleumn bad o be

thz purchaser in the state conzemed ime thig aceount™

Irag was-at liceny %o choose the purchasers of its oil
contizg! with countries holding pro Irag views or those
support réemoval of sznctions. The report vipwed |rag’
contract with countries holding pro |rag views (w
iIncluded states genuinely concerned with the affact of
the civilian pepulation of [rag) es "political manipuls:
view of thls Commission, it remained the soverelgn
which wage reinforeed by naragraph 1{a} of Resalution ki
purchasers of il under the Progremme regerciese of ¢

frag.

Procedures for the purchase of humanitarian coods

Funde in the escrow account had to be used to meet th
needs of the Iregi population and for \he pumpose of finarr
Irag of medicine heaith supcliss. focdstuffs. and material

for essential civilien nesds'™

S pasapraph Ll of Reselutinn 989
S0 parajeriph | fboiof s idiim S5
sl piramaph Bar ol ealiban S,



|4

182 The following cendifions were imposad,

) Each expan of goods had to be at the ragLi=st of the

trag

&) The Ireql Geovemment had o guarantes  equits!
therenf to fle population on the basis of = plan s

approved oy the Secretary-General of the LR

l6)  The Seersizry-Geners| had to receive zuthentical:

thal the exported goads had arrived in {rag
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FART B

BUBMARY GF (I0 REPORT OW PROGRAMME Mk IPULEA
2U0E) AND SCURCES OF (NFORMATION

[20.]

[£1 ]

231

e

ey

i

The report included siv chaptars. For present punpes:
fwiz: Qi Transacvons and lhell Faymente and H:
Trangactions and [licl Fayments), One is Eigniﬁcam{
BNP Ezrbas New York —and Conflicting Imterest), pa

fo the transections ipvolved in Parl D below.

Essential festuzes of the IC Repaort are rapeats: balow'

The report seelis to fustrate ‘the manner in which Ira
Frogramme to-dispanse confracts on the basis of politic

o derive iliicit paymenis from companies that

humanisarzn: gosds contracis”,

Under the Programme rag sold WS § B4, 2 billicn of oil ©
lr2q purchazed Ls 5 24 4§ billion of humantarian go

COMpanies.

Qi =urcharges were paid 0 connection with the o

companies.  Humanitarian kickbacks were paio in con

contracis of 2, 2564 comparies.

See Somary ol il 10 Repeels Chaprer One pecs |28 Parthon ol the 8
FEreiT A nieted s inveaed Sonmas L Pan He
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£1.56

215

The lzbles (‘the |G 1 2bles”) released with the r&port ides
if known: by the I8 how much was pad (o the Govead

respect 1o pariicular Frogramme coniracts.

The principle source of this het pavment date was ind
ey the 1IG frem various minisines of the Government ¢
gdata received from numerous banking instiluiicns and

fromy the sompeny conraciars themsehves,

Fursuam to & requeest which the Commission directed

February 2006, the latier provided the Commission with

The provislon fnereof was made subject to & writler
confidentiality on the part of the Commigsion. Furthemao
matle i accordanse with the conditions |aid down ina |
from the:UN Ofice of Legal Affairs, dated 8 March 2000
provided included: UN contracl files, records of |rage Mi

Iragi policy docurnenis and aoditional malenials.

LIM contraot files include financial and trengacticnz! dacun
purcheses dnder the Programme. These recoros wers

maintained by the UW Treasury =nd OIP in the norma!l

Cipiesaf the sarrions et ers soading (be cobdifivos under which LAr 18] oL 00
tny the Cenimission a0k flsched o o cover letier, Rddressod 1o b
Comaisslai, wilel seives e grorpsve cEsohmitfing this pepoet oo the Pre
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Frogremme. Tl owers Lsed and relled Upon 1o o

Programme actviiss:

Records of the verous ragn mimstres wera obizined by
Government of liag  They relaie to relevan transs
Frogramme. Thes reflec] the levy and payment of kickbs
with humanitarian contracts under the Programime. The
prepared contemporanecusly with the aetivities record
maintained a5 paimanent esords of the respective min

used 2nd relied upon o condoct regular activities of the m

Of pariculer relevance to this enquiry. were the reco
obiaired by the C from the offices of SOMS. They
SOMO documents relating 10 ol purchases under the F
NC contends that it established, firstly, that these 1ecords
as permanent records of SOMO, and =econdly. that the

relied upon o condue the regular achivities ot SOWMO

SO records Include:

(g} A comprehensive sst of SOMO allogstion list
approval |etters related 1o ol alocalions asson)

contract for every entity thal paticipated {n the F

Fhase 1 throdgh Phase 13,
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H:

{2 list ol sllecstions for Bhases 1 1o 12

1], & SO Summary Repod of Februan: 2004

() e SOMO leduer of paid and lewed surcharges:

ig] -a comprehansive set of SOMO bank recor
surcharge paymerts, including statemanis. =
messages obtaned from SCOMO. Jordan N

Fransabank:

Mozt of the orginal decuments were In Arabic  The
Commigsion with Englieh (ranslations of carain docu

cases the Commizsion has ufiiised the services of a gwo

The Commiszior has examined bookkeaping racorde
G from the lreql Ministries es well a5 from SOW
comprehensively and essiducusly produced. The o

Ireg| officials of nroducing anything less, according

&t the Commission’s disposal, were dira. The Impr

were confirmad by auditore of the firm KPMG, whoe
leem mandated by the Interim Irsa Governing Council

scuping investigellon of the Programme. The conclus
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21.14
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fo the effect that lragl Cevernment records are reliable, may
therefore be accepted untll the contrary is shown in rezpect of any
narticular document. However, this assumption coes not sucivde
tha possibility that the [IC may not have been placed in poaEes=ion

af all the relevant documentation.

& gualification foc the information presented by the IIC in the tables

nesds to be emphasised viz, "that the identification of a particular

company's condract as having been the subject of an illicit payment doas

not necessanly mean thal such 'company a& opposed 1o an agent or

secondary purchaser with an interest in the transaction’ made, authorised,

{or) knew about illicii payment”.

This disclaimer was inavitably brought about by the fact that, during
the Programme, & muliiplicity of pariicipanitz began to plasy & role
between the buyers and sellers. Intermediary contractors wera
introcuced into multiparty oil sales. Agents and influential third
parties played a significent role between Iragi Ministries &nd the
sellers of humanitarian goods. Some sellers freely complied with
Irag's kickback policy. Many others made payments to third parties
or agents, sithar unwillingly or in disregard of the purpose of the

payments. The precise role of each particlpant could not be

manltored by the UN.
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21.15 Information before the Commission indicates that the: guestion, of
whether or not surcharges or kickbacks were paid or offered by the
South African companies and indlviduzals ldentified In the Annexure,
hag fo be sxaminad within the context of verious conspiracles o
make direct pevments (o the lragle. The partles to such consplracies
ware the Government of irag, on the one hang, and any number of
pereons who beceme zeeociated with them in "side agreements”, io
make Mliiclt payments, on the other. The effect thereol & that 2
thorough Investigatien by thls Commission méy exconerzie &
contracting compeny @ whom the IIC Tables has attributed
regponeibility for the payment of 2 surcharge or & kickback.
Conversely, other role playerz could be impliceted. Thiz is
elebereted upon below. The methodology employed by the IIC couid
esteblish that procecures laid down by the Council 2nd the CU had
been vipleted. Frecize identification of the indlvidual responsible in

Bach gnd every case was not pozsible.

summary ef HC canclusions re oll transactions end llicil paymeant=

[22.] The |IC Tables do not deal with the payment of so-called "port charges”
which the Governmenl of Irag required before cargo ships would be
permitied 1o Hift ol from Iragi ports. Port charges had to be paid directly to

the lragr authenties. These paymenls were unauthorised and were

concezled fram the Programme,
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"4t the putsel of the Frogramma, Irag preferred to sell il off 1o companias
and individuals from countnes thal were perceived 28 ‘friendly’ 1o Irag,
and, in pariculzr, if they were permanent members of the Ceundl in a
posilion potentially 1o esse the restrictions of sanclions.  Kussian
companies received almost one-third of oil sales under the Programme.
Thmugi; ite Blinistry of Fuel and Energy, Russia coordinated with frag on
the allocation of crude oil 1o Russian companies. French companies were
the second largesi purchaser of oil under the Programme®. Meverlhelsss,
g substantizl volume of cil under contrect with Russian companies was
purchased and financed by companies based in the Uniled Slates. which

ultimately received the lion's share of the oil allocatad by Irag.

The IIC conciuced that the "decision io allow Irag to choose its buyers
empowered Irag with economic and poltical leverage 1o advance its
broader interest in overurning the sanctlons regime. Iréo selected ol

recipients in order o influence foreign policy and international public

opinion in its favour”.

As already stated, lrag’= selection of ofl reciplents invclved =&
manifestztion of its soverelgnty which had been reeffirmed by
Resolution 288. Undaer international [aw no adverse conciuslon can
be drawn from the existence of Internationsl intersction betwesn
particuler stetes #nd the iregi regime: should this prove fo have

been limited te the purchase of oil by =zuch staies (znd thelr

netionalel in retum for support for the remove!l of sconomic
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eznclions. Stetes, which biad 2 particielar political interest in keeping
esnctiens In place (guch 2 the LISA] retzined thell soverelgn right te
legistate accordinply in thelr domestic lew. Frosecutions for
lobbying on behelf of the lragl Government and against sznctions
wers sffacted in this regard under US Fecarsl Lew™. However, the
ilberty of Irsg to conduct internstional econom!c relations with the
nation stetes It favoured ig distinguizhable from the collusion of the
Iragl regime with other =izies, ez well &s with companies and
Individuzls, In order o facliltate the payment of surchargss &nc
kickbacks to the regime. This was prehibiled by Resclutions 663
gnd 988 and took place 2t the expense of the civilian population of

frag.

Several years inic the Programme, ihe regime realised that it could
generale illicit income oulside of LN oversight by requiring oil purchasers
io pay "surcharges” of nenerally between 10 to 30 cants per baerel of oil'.
The surcharge policy commenced in the autumn of 2000, during Phase &,
and lasted till the sutumn of 2002, through the middle of Phase 42
Favments were made mastly to Iragl controlled benk accounts in Jordan

and Lebanon, as well as by cash deposits to Iragi embassies in Moscow

and eleawhere. Ulimately the regime derived LS 3 228, 800, D00 from

Sge USA v Samic A Vineent: USA v Tongsan Pask (Tnited States Pstnet Uleant far ihe Souchem
Dhigtrict af. Mew Yadkl  Vincen: was indicted, inter alis, for lobbydng officials of the TS
Oovemment and the UM toorepenl sanciicns apaines Irag, whilc he was recciving dizcetions Frais
the Government of Ieeg; withowt reifieation 1o the Anofey Geaeral, o vickeisn of Tile TE;
Lipided States Code, soction 931,

Beferenoe Ly weents', unless atheraise slalexd, |rn'|1|i|.-:,= the cumeney of the £154,,



[27] This wes made possible by an evolution In SOMO sales practice. At

first it scld directly to end-uzers (cil refinerieg) anc then via oil

traders to end wusers. During the period under investigation it sold

viz intermediaries to traders whe on-sold to end-usere".

[28.] A committee, which included Saddam Hussein, Viee Presidenl Taha
Yassin Ramadan ("Ramadan™) and Deputy Premier Tarig Aziz ("Aziz") set
the surcharge amount for each phase. The Mimstry of Qi and SOMO

were directed to implement it. “The firsl step Bken by SOMO employees

was o inform each beneficiary that & surcharge was Imposed on each

barrel of ol sold under the Programme and was io be collecled direcily by

the Government of rag™, SOMO assessed surcharges of betwesn 10

and 30 cents per barral. Surcharges wearne levied on each barral lified (that

is, loaded by & tanker al the port), On 15 December 2000 the Cil

Overseers wamed fraders and companies that such payments were

llegal.

[29.] Iraq's ‘political beneficianes’ often used littte known intermediary

companies o enter inlo ol conlracts for oil allocated to them. The

confract holders were not Known in the industry. They were small and had
limited credit facilities. They usually could not open letters of credit or

charer ships on therr own account. They sold to an esiablished oil

See Ol Owersecrs H.v:]:m for GGl f.“a.‘:l:'l'.l'l'liill‘.‘l’.“-,, claled -2 Fabrumrs 2001 [cocument Y27 in
Abdenduim Twid,

0 Report: Chapter 2, Page |8 Section C.

Hap the advice ufthe 861 Cemritce dated 15 Decernbier 000 Cdaeurmert ~37 [ Addendum Two)
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company of trader.. The ol companies and Wraders paid the inlermeadiary
company a premium above the UN's OSP. This premium was used by the
Intermediary company i turn 1o pay the beneficiary or another parson or

entity thal was designaied to receive those funds:

From the documentstion available it would be incormect to state that
South Africa was a political beneficiary that used litle known
Intermediary companias. The entity Falcen Trading Group ("Falcon")
was not & South African company. It was 2 front for Ehaklr Al Khafal
(Al Khafaji"), an Iragi national res.l.ding In the USA. Al Khafajl was 3
beneficiary with Iinfluence. Montega Trading (Pty) Ltd (“Montega™,
which was a South Africen company, obtained &n oil allocation
because Al Khafaji had personal influence with the lragi regime. The
same applies to Omni Qil, another frent for Al Khafaji, which
processed ite oil contracte through the Mission under the gulse of

being 8 Soouth African company. In fact no such company wWae

registered in Scuth Africa.

Available documentation suggests that the ODME was Involved In
implementing £ policy of Black Ecenomic Empowerment {"BEE").
Thiz iz distinguishable from introducing BEE companies into the ai
industry for corrupt purposas. However, the econemy of introducing
any intermediarias intc the Programme &t gll was guesticnable,

pecause this inevitably inflated pricez and drained the Frooramme of
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[34.]

75
)

funds which were intended to be used to provide [raql clvilians with

Rumarnitarian sesiztance.

The layers of individuzls or companies which intruded between the
allocation and end-user of lrag's crude oil resufted in transachions in which
the UN could not determine from the contractz in question who had

actually benefited from or controlled the purchase of ail.

Consequently many of [rag's regular customers balked at buying lragi oil.
but & group of four oil traders began to take a greater role in the market,
All four had limited sccess to direct contracts under the Programme, and
used intermediares to maintzin their access o Iragi crude oil, For present
purposes Bay Qil Supply and Trading Limited ("Bay Qil"). and Glencore
Intermational AG {"Glencore”), a Swiss company, are significant
Beginning in Fhasa 3 of the Programme, from December 2000, they
purchased crude oil through intermediary entities. The use of SOPAK, &
subsidiary of Glencore, was significant in purchases made through South
African entities. Ol companies and traders were saddled with higher
premiums over the O5F to account for the payment of the surcharges at

some stage in the contractual chain,

While most paricipants involved in the lrag crude cil market admitled to
being awaré of lrag's surcharge demands, some conceded o the 1T that
they had arranged with oil companies fo use a portion of the premium

cavments to meel the surcharge demands. In the sutumn of 2002, after



£
the 681 Committee had impozed “retroactive pricing’. which decreased
demand. the Government of Irag decided to gisconlinue ite surcharge

policy.

summery of lIC conclugions re humanilerien geods transacticns and illicit

paymenis

[25.]

[3E.]

rag's laigest source of llicit income from the Programme came from
kickbzcks paid by companies thal the regime had selecled lo recenve
contracts for humaniterian goods. This allowed the regime 1o oblain the
direct payment of more then US § 1, § billion, The payments 1o the
regime were disguised and were not reported fo the UN by lrag or the
paries with whoem Irag contracied, The kickback pelicy began in mid
19949, afler Irag attempled or had attempled (o recoup costs it incumed 1o
transpon goods to infand destinations after their arrival by sea at the por
of Umm Qasr, (e withoul seeking UM approval for such compensation
from the UN Escrow Agcount, irag required humanitanan conlractors to
make such paymenis direclly to Iragl controlled bank accounts or to front
companies oulzide of Ireq, who fhen forwarded the payments o the
regime. By mid 2000 Irag had instituted a policy of imposing 2 ten percent
rickback requirement generally on all humanitarian contractors.  This
included goods shipped by land as well as by sea  This policy was in

addition fo the requirement for inland franspon fees.

An afler-sales-service provision was incorparated ine contracts 1o infiate

prices, and permitied contractors o recover from 1he LN Escraw foccount



T

the smount that thev had secretly paid to lrag in the form of kickbacks.
Contractars ordinarily made the paymenis before their goods were
permmitted 10 enter lrza.  Many companies simply paid the afler-zales-
servics direclly to the regime. Others made payments 1o third paries ar
agents. who then paid the regime. Kickbacks were paid in connection with
tha poniracts of more than two thovsand two hundred companies in the
form of inland Uensporiation fees, zfter-sales-service fees, or both. The
overpayment of the afler-sales-service fee out of the LIN Escrow Account
reduced the proceeds available from oil sales. which were intended to be

used lo provide assistance lo the civilian population of Irag,

The Escrow Bank and Conflicting interest

[37]

In 1898, the Secreterv-General zelecied Banque MNationzle de Pans
S.4. {("BNF", a French banking corporation, o serve as the escrow bank
under the Froogramme. The agreement betweean the bank and the UN
provided lnhat the provisions of Resclution 286 and the MOLU were
"gggenfial and fundamentzl terms and condiions’. The apgreement
reguired BNP lo confirm 2l teRers of credit issued by other banks under
the Programme. but il also allowed BNP, its branches, subsidiaries and
effiliates to issue letlers of credit on behalf of private ol purchasers.
Litimately such banks issued approximately three oul of every four letters

of credit that financed oil purchases, BNF Paribas (Suisse) S.A Geneva

("BNP Faribae’) was significant in thig regard,
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[40.]

This Commission was appointed in termsz of section 84(2)(f of the
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa. 1996 (“the Consfitution™, ta
conduct 2n investigation into the alleged illict activiiee of cerain South
African compenies of individoals relating to the Programme, s lerms of
referance were published in a2 Schedule in Gazetls Mo. 2B528 con 17
February 2008, The companies and individuzls, 25 well zs the alleged
ilicf activities wera =et oul in an znnexure to the Schedule [“the
Annexure™).  For convenience companies and individuals dentified are

referred la generally as glleged offenders and their names are cited in an

abbreviated form.

As a firsl step in the Commission's investigation it was required (by the

term of reference numbered Ui}, io access and anglyse all evidence and

information obitained and assessed by the |G, which related o alleged

ofienders and “which may assigl in this investigalion”. The Commission

obiaineo a plethora af information from the IC by 18 March 2006, Maore

informetion §5 sl being accessed. The circumsiznces under which

atcess was obtzined were described in &n inlerim report, dated 31 March
2006 {"the interim repart’). Since 1B March 2006 the Commission has
been analvsing documentation and other information recenved from the 1IC

snd other =ources. Al of this evidence and iofommstion has not been




(k)

(<)

{d)

|
1.

surcharges which would have accrued against lmvome from its

Crude Gil Contract Ne, MIM11/72, dated 27 March 2002,

Majalilmvume made an advance surcharge payment of Us 3 60,
000 (probably in respect of the Imvume Contract referred fo in

subparagraph (a) above}.

Majali's need to pay surcharges. concomitantly with the execution
of Imvume contracts, was probably known o the management of
the South African Strategic Fuel Fund (“the SFF™), who might have
become associated in this (el acthvily by concluding a contracl to
purchase Basrah Light Crude Ol {"Basrah LCO") from the Iragis,
vig Imvume and its financier (Glencore/SOPAK)., A direct
relationship between state institutions {SOMO on behalf of Irag
and the SFF on behslf of South Africa), would have
circumvented the involvemant of the South African state In the
payment of cil surcharges altogether {if necessary by a simple

refusal on the part of the SFF to pay oil surcharges).

The Secretary-General of the African National Congress (“the
AMNCT, Mr Kgalema Motlanthe [("WMollanthe”), probably knew of the
conspiracy refemed to in (a) above and might have become

asgociated in it in some manner, as is illustrated by and inferred



analysed due (o exisiing fima consfraints. Froper snalysis by he

Commission is required lo esteblish whether or not the conclusians in the

G Repord are [ustified in regard to the alleged offenders and ihe

circumstances under which their alleged illicit activilies ware carried oul

[41] Based only on information provided by the [IC, which is substantially

AT

drawn under paragraphs [42] and [44] are reascnably sustainable. Similar
conclusions were drawn and suggestions made, either explicitly or

implicitly. in the 1C Report. The Commission is bound by its terms of

reference to lest the comrectness of these findings |l has intended o do

s0 from fhe oulsel by exercising the powers given to it in eimse of the
Commissions Act. 1847 (At No. B of 1847) ("the Commissions Act”), and
the Regulations made by the President thereunder However, it has

been prevented from doing st by the circumstances =el out in Par F

below.

inferences  arising from 1€ documentstion (presently  hefore the
Commission]

inferences reparding Majali/Montegalimvume

[42.] &)y  Mr sandi Majali ("Majali®) conspired with the Iragis fo pay their

exisiing claims for oll surcharges agamnst Montega as well as other

Bepuiations gublehed n Guzelie Mo 2ES38 o 17 February 2004



from Majzli'z letier (the proposal letler’) 1o the Cif Minister in the

IC's Repor

{g) The Mission, in the person of al leasl two South African officials
iz, Andrigs Dormehl {*Dormehl’) and Simon Cardy {"Cardy™y), was

likaly to have been aware of the exposure of Majali, Moniega and

Irvume lo the peremptory reguiremant of paving surcharges, |[f

50, this could heve stiracted liability to the Republic of Scuth
Africa under international law, This would have arigen from 2
breech of Article 25 {read with Arlicle 41) of the Charter; that
s, 89 £ reault of & failure on the perl of South Africa to comply
with directions contained |n Resolutions 661 end SBG which

impesed and regulated economic sanctions.

A furthar inference {arising from non IIC decumentzaticn)

[42.] Based on further documentation, which was provided (o the Commission
by the Minister of Minerals and Energy on 26 Apdl 20068, a further
conclusion arses. Thal is. on 7 August 2001, when she signed the
approval of an official (technical) visit o Irag by DME officiale from 10 to
14 Septemnber 2001, the Minister of Minerals and Energy at the time, Ms P
Mlampbo-Ngouka, was aware of the surcharges being imposed by the
Iragis ¢n BEE Groups, and thal this issue needed to be addressed by

officizls of the depariment for which she was respansible

S Chapier 2 af the HE Kepis ung 157
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Inferences regarding Mocaoh (South Africa)

[44]

18]

\B)

(<)

(d)

{ei

Mr Tokyo Sexwale {(“Sexwale™ and Mr Michael Hacking (“Hacking™

wearna co-shareholders in Mocoh.

Sexwale personally was the non-contractual beneficiary of & 8
million barrels of oil which were allotted to him during Phases 6, 7.
8 and 12 which apparently were never lifted. The allotment during

Phase 8, of one millien bamels. was effected on the basis thal the

couniry recaiving the allotment was |laly.

Mocoh conciuded six contracts. |t was allocated 10, 800, 000

barmels. |t lifted 8, 582, 627 bamels with a contract value of US 5
185, 588, 266.

in respect of Contract No. MOB'SS ("the First Mocoh Contract™),
which was concluded during Phase 8, a total of 948, 313 barrels
were lifted. A surcharge of US 8 84, 631 was levied and paid. (The
First Mocoh Contract is the only Mocoh Contract which i= not in the

possession of the Commission).

In respect of Contract No. M/0%/40 {"the Second Mocoh Caontract™),
1, 917, 957 barrelz were lifted. A surcharge in the amount of US &

478, 489 was levied and US § 480, 088 was paid (leaving 8 surplus
of US 5 579,



a4

( All the surcharges wera peid through Hacking wha scted in person

by either making the paymenis or giving authority 12 others 1o do 50

on behali of Mocah,

gy Knowledge of both the surcharges levied {which was a well known

demand of the Irzgis) as well as of the payments can be attributed

to Sexwale who was Hacking's co-director.

{h}  The Mission was probably aware of thiz siuation, with similar

consequences {o those in paragraph [42)(e) above,
Foreign exploitetion of South Afrlca

[45] Documenis provided by the liC, a= well 22 Miz=ion records provided
by the DFA, revesl a syestematic exploitation of Scuth Africa’s
favourad nation stetus with lreg during the Programme by 2 coterle
of entrapreneure anc internationzl of! tradere such as Glancore and
say Oll. Mozt of these were forelgners. The entltles, Omnl O ang |
Falcon, illugtrata this phenomenon. Both misrepresented to the
Mission that they were Sauth African companles [n order to facilltate
thelr perticipation In the Progremme. Neither wes & South Africen
compeny. The prime mover behind theee two entities was Al Khafafl.
He conspiret wr‘th 3 E_ul.."l:h African, Wr Rodney Hemphill (“Hemphill™)

ta erploil the MWissicn. Hacking, whe authorised the surcherge



[46.]

[47 ]
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peymenis made by Miocoh i a British resldent. He does not appesr

to have a Bouth Africen idertity number,

The foreign nzationslity of Al Khafeji and Hacking and the lack of
registration in Scuth Afrca of Omnl Ol and Falcon would seam (o
dispose of the allepztion that these allegedly South African
companies and Ingdividuals teok part in [licit sctivities. However, the
guestion remaing as to whather or not they used persons “within
(Souih African) terftory” who made funds or rescurces availzble to

the Govermnment of Irag, an &ctivity which was targeted by Resolution

BE1.

intemational law &liocatez corporate entities to stales for purposes
of diplomatic protection, usually by the state under the laws of which
it ie incorperated®. The consequence of misrepresenting tha
nationality of Omni Oil and Falcon to the Mizzion was that potentiz]
prejudice to the Republic of South Afnce was likely o resull.
induced by the representation that an applicant company was
registered in South Alrice the Missloh waould, In all likelthood, have
endarsed the bong fides of 8 contrector. Tha contractor would then
have becomse zcmitied o the Programme on the basls that the
company was 5 South African national. South Africa was bound to

prevent itz neticnalz end persone within its territory from providing

Spilhe BARCELONA TRACTIIN CASE: Caze Concerning the Bareolona Traclion, Lightand

Friser Company Limisd [Secard Phass) Beeligiom + Spein TET Ropoits 190 [Lacaeeaph T]
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2h
finrence o the lragi Govaernmerl The obilgetlon arose under the
Charter winich is & treaty. As 2 result of their sdmission to the
Programme through the South Afrcan Miesion, the illicit activities of
&1 Kheafaji, Omni Qi and Faicon were attributed In some measura o
South Afrlca. Howaver, Sputh Africa haed nio jurisdiction over thess
ferelgn entitiss, because they were controlles by forelgn nallonzis

regiding beyond South Africa's borders.

The Republic i3 bound by the Charter, &n International agreament,
which wag binding on the Republic when the Constitufion took
effect™. However, the Charler can only bscome |aw within tha
Republic (“domestic law"”) when it [ enacted into faw by naticnal
legislation™. No legisiatlon currently exists in South Africa which
incorperetes Councll resolutions, made under Chapter VIl of the
Charter, Into domestic law. The provisions of Resolutions 661 and
886 therefore have no legel effect on indlvidusl persons, legal or
naturel, in our domestic lew. More imporiantly, by virtue of the
principle that & crime cannot be committed unlezs it 2lrezdy exigts in
our law™, individuals who associzted themselves with or made
peymenta to req contrery to the provizions of Resoiutions 861 2nd
986, did net commit offences in South Africz by deing s¢. Hor do
such activities aftract criminal llablilty under international law fo

indivicual perpatrators i.o. to legal or natural persons.

Sep sechuin Z3105 ) nf the Coneiulion
e sectinn 231040 of the Censrution.
The millm criwern Jine e prasziple.
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PART D

REQUEST FOR EXTENSICN OF TERMS OF REFERENGE

[4%]

[50.]

[21.]

Lexoil is a South African regislered company. |t Is not a subject of the
Commission's invesligation. A company search reveals that Lexoil was
registered on 23 Avgust 2000. Itz physical address is Suite 402, West
Tower Sandion Square, 3 Maude Street, Sandton. Mr Barry David Aaron
{*Aaron™), an altorney, with the same business address was appointed as
a director on 30 July 2003. The only other director 15 e Kevin Gardon

Morgan who was appointed on the same data,

on 17 January 2001 the Gil Overgeers informed Dormehl, at the hMission,

that Lexoll had been ragistered as a national oll purchaser which was

authorised to communicate with the Qil Overseers in respect of ¢ll sales
under Resolution 586. This notice had been preceded by a note direcled
By the Mission ta the OIP on 17 January 2001 requesting the registration
of a South African company wishing to purchase oil from Irag under the
provizions of Resolution 286. The company named was Lexoil, and the

contact person named was Aaron. He later became Majali's attorney as

well as g director of Lexail.

On 18 January 2001 Cardy informed Aaron {Lexcil) by letter that United

Technical Enginsering Systams had been registered as an oil purchaser.
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[=3.]

38

Lexail should have been ragisterad {"Adrons letter of 19 January'). Aaron

requesied a replacement letter. The details of Laxell which appear on this
letter suggest that by 19 January 2001 Majali had become associated with

Lexail and that knowledge of Irag’s surcharge policy may be aitnbuted to

Lexoil.

Lexoil concluded Contract Mo, MM11124 {the Lexoll Contract") with
SOMO, for the sale of one million barrels of Kirkuk, on 8 May 2002 dunng
Phase 11, The Lexol Contract was signed by Mazen Hagsen Saleh
(“Zaleh”) on behalf of Lexoil and was valid until 28 May 2002, Lexoil's
application to the Qil Overseers for approval of this coniract was
apparently also signed by Saleh. Ha usad the South African address
above. This was recorded as the place of registration of Omni Oil, Saleh

was the contact person, but the contact details (telephone, facsimile and

g-mail). were those of Aaron,

Al present there is no evidence o auggest that Saleh was a director of the
South African registered company or thal he was duly authorised o
contracl on behalf of Lexail. A letiter directed by Aaron to Mr Dumisani S
rumalo, the Ambassador at the Mission ("Ambassador Kumala®™), on 7
April 2003, confimned that the only contract “which we executed in respect
of the of for food Pregram (was) Contract Mo, BMA1/124, a primary
contract aliocaled to us'. In this letter Aazron spoke about “our
represeniatives in Jordan!, He diracied a copy of the letter to Saleh,

"LEXOIL-JORDAN®,  The probabilities supgest that z lifting of the



[54.]

[55)]

156

35
corporate veil would raveal that Lexoil iz & front company owned and

controlled from Jordan

The [ragi O Minister approved the Lexoil Contract on 11 May 2002, A
request for gpproval from SOMOD included a common clause numberad
gleven (“the standard surcharge clause’) which provided as follows:
"Recovery amount payable within (30) days after shipment loading”. This
contract was processed under the auspices of the Mission, Utimately the
contract was extended beyond the period duning which SOMO chose to

impose its surcharge policy, No surcharges were paid.

On 11 September Z00Z BMNP Paribas issued a letter of credil o the
Escrow Bank, BMF Faribas Mew York in favour of the UN by order of
Lexoil care of Aarom's business address above pursuant lo the Lexoil
Cantract. The Wwansparency of the financial arrangements was

compromised as a resull of the circumstances referred to in Paragraph

[38.] above,

Three requests for consecutive extansions of the contract were made o
the Oil Oversaers by Saleh, on 20 June, 31 July and 10 September 2002,
Appearing at the foot of the page bearing the Lexeil letterhead. on which
Saleh made each request was an express reference to Lexszhell 74
Praperty Holdings {Pty) Limited, Executive BD Aaron, Registration number

STHME624/07 {"Lexshell”). Aaron’s letter of 19 January 2001also contained
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Laxshell's details at the foot of the page. The exsculives were described

thare as BD Asron, S Majali and P Lange.

By 19 January 2001, when Malall's name appearec on the
correspondence of Lexecil in itz dealings with the Mission, Majali had
already visitad Irag with Al Khatfaji and Hemphill, and he had signed a
contract with SOMO (on behalf of Moniega), He had been informed
by Iragi officials that the Iragls required surcharge payments on any
barrels of oil that would be lifted. Knowledge of the Iragi's surcharge
reguirement on the part of Lexoll, when it applied to the Misslon for
registration and when it concluded the Lexoil Contract, may be
aftributed to the company because of Malali's apparent directorahip

at those fimes.

Table 3 of the IC Summary of Oil Sales by Non-Contractual Beneficiaries

reflects that the beneficiary of this conlraci was Mr Bessam Mashhur

Haditha (“Haditha™. His "country” was Jordan and one million barmels

were allocated. That is, the Lexoil Confract, was facilitaled under the

auspices of a Mission Country viz, Bouth Africa for the benefil of a

Jordanian. Haditha was also the non-contractual benaeficiary of Contract
Mo, M/10/66. for two million barrels. The Misszion Country for that confract
was Turkey. The contracting company was Delta Petroleum Producta

Trading Company. By the tima that the Lexeil Contrast was concluded

Delta had slready conclueded ten ofl contracts in the first 10 phases of the

Fregramme. They pald surcharges in rezpect of the last three contracts,
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41
Thiz included the contfacl, during Phase 10, for which Haditha was the
non-contractual beneficiary. It is likely that he was well aware of the
surchargs requiremeant when Lexoll contracted for his benefit under the
auspices of the Mission during Phase 11. Lextll became Haditha's South
African face, after he changed the Mission through which he obtained his

benefit of Iragi oil.

The Commission accordingly recommends the extension of its terms of
reference so as (o provide for resolution of the issues described in

paragraph [198] below.



PART E

PROPOSED RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON DOCUMENTATION ALORE

[60]

80,1

60.2

The Commission ig investigating the following possible recommendations.

In dealing with Council resalutions such as Resolution 861, which impoze
economic =anctions, whether national leglslation should be enacted to
incorporate the provisions of Chapter VI of the Charter into domestic law
to such extent as is necessary to create liability for the individual. Such
legislation would prohibit 3owth African nationals both in South Africa and
abroad, as well as any persan within the territory of Soulh Africa, from
committing any “listed activity” in violation of the provisions of Council
resolutions passed under Chapter Vi, after such activity has been listed
by the Executive in the Gazeffe, Criminal sanctions for persons (legal or

natural) who commit a listed activity, would be legislated for.

In dealing with Council resolutions such as Fesolution 888, that partially
ift andior ameligrate economic sanctions, whether a furher legislative
prohibition should be crealed.  This would prohibit South  African
companies and individuals and apy person within South Africa whe may
become involved in LN sanctions programmes, from executing coniracts

without a leence. Such licénsing could be introduced and administratad



60.3

G014

60.5

60.6

47
by the Treasury, the DFA andior lhe State departments which are relevant

to the particular activity™

Whaether directives should be issued to the DFA, fo the effect that in the
future, UMW regulated exemptions from the imposition of economic
sanctions under Chapter V1. which are processed by the Mission, should
be thoroughly scrutinised and refused whanever the participants and/or

beneficiaries are not South Afncan nationals.

VWhether the hational Frosecuting Authority should be requested to
invesfigate the perpetration of crimes of fraud on the Missien (and the
Republic) as a result of the activities of Hemphill, Majali, Al Khafaji and

Haditha, in the cirgumstances describad in this repor.

Whaether provision should be made by the Department of Finance o put
exchange control reguiations into place, spontanecusly and in line with
Chapter V1| resolutions, as soon 25 such resolulions are passed in the

future. in order to prohibit the provision of finance to stales under

economic sanction

Whather gimilar provision should be made to control the impont into and

export from South Afrca of goods affected by such =anctions and'or the

11

Theachcurent &1 03 00, 349 000, in the LS Dissnct Coum, Southem Disimet of Mew York, sofioes

i LR federal dawe, whiczk is dicectad af the mischist under ineestimation and which ezuld serve pa a
nsetul refer=nze
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transhipment thereaf via the termtory of South Africa, or through the uss of

South African flag vessels,
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PART F

LIMITATIONS ON THE COMMISSION

61]

[62.]

lts terms of reference required the Commigsion to report Lo the President
within three months of 17 February 2008, or with the consent of the
Pregsident, as soon as possible thereafter. The term numbered 2
authorises the terms of referencea to be added o, variad or amanded from
time to time. The term numbered 5 provides that the Commisszion is

subject lo. and should be conducted in terms of the provisions of the

Commizsions Act. as well as the regulations made with reference 1o the

Commission.

On-31 May 2006 (i.e. some 15 days after the onginal dale for a2 final report
had pazsed) the Commission had itz first formal written notification™ that
the President had consented to an extension of the criginal final date for a
report e, till 17 June 2006 (“the one month extension™, No further
extension haz been consented to. An informal notification, in the form of a
text message. was forwarded to the Chairperson via celiular lelephons on
22 May 2006. It repeated @ message which had been directed by the
Deputy Minister for Juslice and Constifutional Development to the

Cirector-General of that Department on the same day, The present report

with the limitations described herein ig an attempt 1o meat the deadline of

From the Departnmn Tor Jusice il Croastitutionn! Developrment
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17 June 2008. The further circumstances miting the execution of the

terms of referance are described hereunder

During & telephonic conversation with Advocate Majunku Gumbi. on or
about Tuesday 21 May 2008, the Charparsoh was informed that the
deadline of 17 June 2006 wasz 2 "holding operation”. It was coupled to a
reguest made to the Chairparson, on § May 2008 by Advocate Vilakazi, on
behalf of the President. namely lo postpone sing die the oral hearing of
relevant witnesses who were under summons to appear and testify before
the Commissien from 8 to 168 May 2006, The peostponement was
requested in order to allow the Prasident to obigin legal advice on the
merts of an application brought by Hemphill in the Pretoria High Court,
challenging the constiutional validity of the Commission’s powers o
quastion withesses in lems of the relevan! regulations ("the High Courl

application™),

On or about Friday £ June 2006, Advocate Gumbi Iinformed the
Chairperson telephonically that Senior Counsel had advised that there
was no ment in the constifutional challenge. On & June 2008 Advocale
Gumbi diracted a copy of a letter 1o the Commisslon. The original letter
had been diracted. on behalf of the President, to the atiorneys
rapresanting Hemphill, The attorneys were informed of Senior Counsel's
conclusion, as well as of the willingness on the par of the Chairperson lo
clanfy issues of concern fo Hemphlll, because the Commission wished 1o

proceed with its work. Hemphil's attorney was requested to advise
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whether Hemphill wished to proceed with the High Court application. Mo
raply has bean forthcoming, The Commission is aware that Hemphill had
sold his house and that he was out of the country at that time. His

attorneys have underaken to reverd to the Commission by Friday, 23 June

2008,

Should the one month extension consttute a final deadline for the

Commission's repart the Commizsion will in effect have been denied the

opporiunity of using both the powers thal were challenged as well as the

firsl consequence s thal the Commission will have been prevenied from

carrying oul the mandate, presaribed by the lemms of reference, which

reguires it to analyse information before the [IC, padicularly by comparing

il with Information which the Commission should be able to obtain from

other sources.

Secondly, the late notice of the one month exension and the limitad
duration of the extension have made it practically impossible for the
Cammission o exercise the powers which i is bound to exercise in terms
of Regulation 5 read with sections 3 and 4 of the Commiszions Actie. to

summons witnesses for oral examination at public hearings. In_the

absence of such oral examinations the Commission would have no

alternative other than to simply accept the inferences drawn by the |IC in

rejation (at least) to Monteda Imvume and Mocoh e three companies
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which the Commission is requited o investigele in order io assass Ine

correciness of the |IC findings.

Thirdly, should this report come fo be the “final report’, persons implicated
by the 13 and this report will not have been afforded 2 proper opportunity
o rebui aliegations made by the [IG and the conclusions reached in this
report, The necessily of this process arlses by implication fram the teims
of reference, pariicularly the fourth paragraph of the preamble. Al of
thase affected and with whom the Commission has had dezlings so far
have indicated some degree of willlngness to cooperals in such & process,

Majali and Imvume have insisted that the Commission should hear their

version of events before il prepares = final report.

Attorneys Werksmans, acting for Sexwaie, underiook 16 answer certain
wriflen guestions put 10 Sexwale in a letter from the Commission. In
accordance with this undertaking a reply was recaived by the Commission
on 15 June 2006 at 12h64, Similarly, the Slate Attorney, Pretoria, acling
on behalf of the Direclor-General of the DME, Advocate Sandile Mogxina
("the Director-General” or “"Nogxing"), has onderzken to provide an
affidavil which will be deposed to by the Director-General in answer {o
guestions directed o him in writing. This may well dispose of the
conclusions and issuas raised in paragraph [43] above. The Director
General is unlikely to comply with his undenaking befere 17 June 2008
At this stage Commissioner Chauke s attempling lo negotiate 2 similar

grrangement. with Motlanthe, who aspparently may now be legally
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represented. Commissioner Moleko has been attempting (o lisise with the
Senous Fraud Office ("the Office™) in Lendon in order to clarify the role of
Hacking. According to newspaper repors the Office and HM Revenue
and Customs are invastigating whether or not Glaxo Smith Kine PLC
(which teok over Glaxo Wellcoma 34) contravenad British law in supplying
goods to lraq. None of this information could be analysed or find its way

into a final report by 17 June 2006.

An interim repor ¢n progress of the Commission {pursuant to the term
numbered 4) was prepared on 31 March 2006 and was deliverad fo the
Fresident via the office of his Director-General on 4 Apiil 2006, Therein
the Commission deall with matenal factors which suggested that a
comprehensive final report would reguire the tenure of the Commission to
endure beyond three months. In the final paragraph the Chairperson
concluded that there was little prospect that the Commission could provide

& final report before the end of July 2008.

In a request, dated 26 April 2006 and deliverad to the Presidency on 2
May 2008, the Commission proposed 31 August 2006 3= a realistic final
repaing date. |t was stated in paragraph 13 of the request that the
hearings relating to ol surcharges would effectively take up the last part of
ihe three month perod described in the terms of reference, Because of
time constraints any hearing relating fo the payment of kickhacks arising
frorn humanitarian goods transactions would have had te be carried out

after the three menth reporting period had axpired
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fg a resull of the delays abave and a need an the pan of the Commission
to obtzin and anzlves maore information than it has 5o far, a5 well 25 the
need to guestion necessary wilnessss arally (2nd aflow them tme for

preparation), the Commission will probably require fill al least the end of

August 2006 to praduce 2 final reporn.

Mecessary withesses

[72.) The necessary witnesses in relation lo all surcharges are Messrs Sandi

[73.]

bajali (who iz expressly refemed to in the annexure to the Commission's
terms of reference), =5 well as Ivor Ichikowitz (the broker for
Glencore/SOPAK and the active role-plaver in Montega/Imvume), George
Foole (Montega's Attorney), Riaz Jawoodeen (& Member of the Board of
Directors of the SFF) and Rodney Hemphilll. The supplementary
withasses who could be dealt with on an alternalive basis are the Direcior-
General of the DME {Advocate NMogxina) and Messrs Kgzlema Mollanthe
and Tokvo Sexwale. Thereafler the Commizsion would seek to interview
Mr Simon Cardy of the Mission and/or another former employee who dealt

with the Programme, Mr Andries Dormehl,

\Within the present time constraints ne analysis at &l could be made of ihe
evidence and information relating 1o three of the companies listed in the
Annaxure. which alegedly paid kickbacks viz. Ape Pumps, Glaxo
Wellcome SA and Reviolle Limited. Mocoh ig not deall with below

because the reply prepared for Mr Sexwale by his attorneys may alter any
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conclusions drawn (particulasly in the light of compeliing indications of

e¥ploitation by foregn entreprensurs desaribed above),

[74.] The basis on which the President i authorized to make a2 proclamation
establishing & Commission of Inguiry which involves the provisions of the
Commissions Act, s thal the matler under enguiry iz one of public
concern®™. In this case public concem relates to the payment of oil
surcharges and kickbacks an the sale of humanitarian goods, invelyving
Sauth African companies and individuals, Layers of South African
individuals seem o be involved in the conlractual chaing which are
associzted with the persons and companies identified in the Annexure, In
the case of transactions involving humanitarian goods. according o
information the Commission received from the 1IC, foreign agents were
zzsociated with the South African entiies. These matters cannot be
addressed properly {and lawfully) uniess the Commission i2 afforded a
proper cpportunity to question {a2 a minimum) the neacessary withessas

above, under section 3 of the Commissions Act. and also to obtain further

information from the supplementary withesses,

Congeguence of limitations

{751 This report ig incomplete in so far as the terms of reference are.

concerned, I Is sometimes desullory and has had lo be compleied

Lep the BAHFEV case;  Prosident of the Republic ufl Soath Alcica and ather v Soah Adrsan
Rupy Fooiball Ukicn aed Chohors, Z0RICH ST L0
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hurnedly. The analvais below 18 Dased sirictly on hearsay documeniary
eviderce and is limiled (o Majali Al Khafaji, Hacking, Monteaa, Irmvume,
Omni Qi and Falcon, Contradictions and smissions which appear in the
documenis remain unregolved by admissible evidence. In so far as the
remaining companies referred to in the Annexure &re concerned,
attarneys for Ape Pumps are willing to assist the Commissian but have not
dane so yet Due o the period of delay in the delivery of documents
reguesied by the Commizsion from the OFA (the DFA documents”) as
well as the time congtraints which arose from the Commiggicn's three
rmonth reporting perod, the Commission was constrained o act
expadiiously and {o direct summonses 1o recipienis, whom the
Commigsion had idenfified by conducting company searches (viz. Reyrolle
and Glaxo Wellcorme SA)  Upon receipt of the DFA documents the (deal
recipients were identified.  Time consiraintz have not allowed tha
Commission to follow this up. Mr George Poole ("Poole”) of the atiomey's

firm Bell, Dewar and Hall. now rapresents (the former) Glaxo Wellcome

Sh.

Finally, because Hemphill had linked the subpoenz of documentation tc
his legel challenge. the Commission has not been presented with all the
decumentation which iz in the possession of the withesses previously

summonsed. The inferences drawn below may therefore be affected by

this documenlation when it is ultimately produced.
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ANALYEIS OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO FALCON, OMRNI
CIL. MONTEGA, IMVUME, Al KHAFA.J AND RAJAL!

[77.]

(78]

In this part the inferences drawn and cohclusions reached above in
refation to two individuzals and four entities ldentifled In the Annexure
andior the [IC Tablaz are supporied by reference to certain documants in
the Commission's possession, Each section below commences with a
summary of the lIC's findings. The anlities are then identified and their
activities are analysed (sometimes collectively) with reference fo the
documents. The DFA documents are also referred to. The conditions
upon which they were provided lo the Commission are sel out in a
covering letter by the Director-General, Or A Nizaluba ("Nisaluba"}, dated

26 April 200577,

A5 will appear below, Hamphill had good cause lo asser the privilege
against self-incnimination contained in section 3(4) of the Commissions

Aot According to the WS docomentation, 2t all material times he

represented that he was acting on behali of three South African

companigs listed in the Annaxure viz. Falcon Trading Group Limited, Omni

il and Montega Trading {Pty) Ltd  The first two are not South African

gompanies. A company search has astablished that the first two entities

A coply of this letier o alleched i the letier addressed to the Presidency by the Connnission. Ses
lodnote L5 simmg,
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are not registered in South Africa.  They were fronts, probably for Al

Khafaji.

In pagzing it is worth nothing that Al Khafaji used Mix Oil Limited, and
apparently exploited the State of Cyprus, to establish himself as a non-
contraciual beneficiary of Crude Oil Contract Ne. W/OBM17T, invelving the
allocation of five million barrels during Fhase 8 Fraud, on Hamphill's
part, arizes from his role in assisting Al Khafaji te put on & South

African face, to pay surcharges and kickbacks, and to compromise

South Africa at the LN,

Falcon Trading Group Limited "Falcnn"

UG Allegations

[80.]

Irrthe Annexure a supplier company is described as Falcon Trading Group
Limited. The total number of contracts referred to is 16. Nine of thoze
imvalved illict payments. They fell under Fhases 9 to 11 of the
Programme, Table B refers to South Africe as the Mission Country
According to this Table the total after-sales-service fees paid by Falcon
amounted o US 5 2, 827 B30. However, a lezser amount was levied viz.
US % 2 525, 111, Inland transportation fees paid amounted to US § 14,
063. These findings of the G were allegedly based, in whala or in part,

on actual data, Faleon did not respond to the IC's requast for an

explanation of the aforegoing.
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[101] As stated above no company descrbed as Omm Qil South Afnca (Fiy)
Limited is registered in South Africa, In paragraph 28 of his affidavit in the
High Ceourt spplication Hemphill staled thal be was not a direclor of 2
company bearing that name, but that he was & sole directar of a company
known 2= Omni Energy (Pty) Lid. A company search has revesled that
this company commenced its business on 6 March 2003, ie. at
approximately the same time as the Programme envisaged by the UN was

halted by ammed conflict.

Niustrative documentation

[102.] Documentation in possession of the Commission shows the following.

On 19 February 2001 Hemphill, purporting o be the director of "Omni Gil

South Africa (PBVI) Lid Inc. Dmni Oil South Africa (Pty) Lid, 117 Elevanth

Street Parkmore Sandton, 3™ floor Waolverton Place, Market Sgquare, St

Peter Port Guemsay, GY1 W 11 IB® {and sharing contact details with

Falcon), directed & letter o Dormehl at  the Mizzion™. Under a heading

‘UM reqgistration for Irag Oil Purchase”, Hemphill reguested, the Mission

as matter of urgency, to have the above company registered with the UN

authority for ol purchases from Irag in respect of the Irag Qil szles under

Resolution 886, The usual procedure would have beean for Dormshl (o

farward “the registration of South Africen Company” (o purchase oll

tc “Bis Flora Eugene — Oil Overgaers Office QIP."

e docuieny 13 i Addendum Une,
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Undar 2 mizspprehension, viz. thet Hemphill was representing a
South African registered company™, the Mission directed a recuesl 1o
the Cil Overseers' office on 20 February 2001 in which the Mission

requested “the registration of 2 South Afiican Company” wishing fo

purchase oil from [rag Under the provisions of Uniled Rations Security
Council 886%, The details of the company are set out above, The contact

person waz Hemphill.

On 27 Februsry 2001 the Mission informed Hemphill that Omni Qi had
been ragistered for the Programme®. This Mission letler followed a notice

from the Ol Cversears 1o the Mission on 26 Febnuary 2001, inferming the

latter “thal Omni Oil South Africa (Pty) Lid had been reagistered as a

Mational Ol purchaser ... (and was) authorized to communicate with the

United Nations Oil Overseers In respect of the lrag Ol sales under

Rezolution SBE"

On 3 May 2001 the Wission submitted & contract. between “Omni Oil

South Africa Lid" and SOMO. for approval to the 861 Commitiee. This

appears to be Contract Mo M/0D9/108. Mo barrels wera allocated,

[106] The Commission is in posseszion of three latters of confirmation. directad

by the Acting Genaral Manager of SOMO. All Rajab Hazsan ("Hassan"} fo

the Oil Minister. They relate respectively to three subsequent contracts

11

See e Misston brisfing refere:! 1o in the previzus seciion {documeirt = 147 in Addandum (e,
See dpcument 15 in Addendiem One,
See documerd "HET in Addendom Cine,
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concluded by Omnl Qi viz. contract numbers MIDIZ4 [“the Cmm
Contract"), MI11/96 and MH2/80". They were approved respectively by
the Oil Minister on 22/7/2001, S2/2002 and 17/8/2002". The last-
mentioned contract was extended by agreement so that it probably fell

oulside of the period during which the Iragis were able 1o levy surcharges.

The first two contracts mentioned each conlain surcharge clauses,
Contract No. M/11/96 contains the standard surcharge clause. The
standard surcharge clause also appears In the approval of the
Montege Cantract™ (No. M/OS/0E), which wae signed hy Majali on 21
December 2000 in Irag. At that time Al Khafall, Hemphlli and Majail

were vigiting frag and seeking out allocations as |olnt venture

partners,

The Omnl Contract provide= for the payment of an “advance
surcharge” of the kind that iz attdbuted to Imvuma by the IC Raepert.
The clause provides the following: "Recovery amount: The Company has
paid 10% of recovery amaount in advance, (B0} sixty thousand US § Dollar,
the remaining balance (80%) of the amount will be paid within (30) days
after shipment |oading”. The sum of this advance, on an allocation of
two milllan: barrelz of Basrah LCOQ under the Omni Confract, s
identical to the advancs that Imvume |s alleged to have pald towards

the Firzgl Imvume Contract on an eqgueél number of barrels, elbeit that

Ses= docyumends =177 0 19" e Addendiom One,
Sexdocuments 287 w0 22" in Addendumi One.
St paragraph | 13 safra,
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£
the latier contract contained the sianderd surcharge clause. The
pavment of 2 US § &0, 000 advance by Imvumas was therefors
unexcepticnal in the clrcumstances surrounding execution of this

contract Thess circumztznces are elaborated upon further below.

The Omni Contract followed an application which had been signed by
Hemphill in his capacity as a direcior, The  purchasing entity was

described by Hemphill g8 "Omni Qil Co (Sowth Africa)”, with the place of

registration being South Africa. On 27 July 2001 the 861 Commitlee gave

notice lo the “Omni Qil Ca® that this contract had been approved”. The

contract was signed by Hemphill purporting to be the Managing Director of

"Omni 8il Co {South Africal” on 22 July 2001™. The contract is referred to

in Table 3 as an Ommni Oil contracl (Misgion Country South Africa) for

which & surcharge was paid. Al Khafaj. Mr Shaker, Couniry Irag {Living
fAbroad] is described 2s the Non-Conbractual Beneficiary _and the

President of the Association of Solidarity with the Iraqai people.

On 25 February 2002 the 661 Committee informed *Omni Gil Co South

Africa” (for the attention of Mr. Hemphill), that Contract No. WMi11/86,

conciuded between "SOMC and Omni Oil Co® for the sale of 1, 500, 000

barrels of Basrah LCO, had been gpproved™, The application form which

had regquested approval on behalf of "Omni Ol SA" (with the Parkmore

address and ¢ontacl details), was signed by Hemphill in his capacity as

=

Sep document 22317 in Addendum Cme.
Ser document “24" in Addenduin Ong.
ek docurmeit P25 Dy Adéendam One.
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director. On 20 Februsry 2002 the Mission had submitied this coniract

"petween Omni Oil South Africa {(Lid)" and SCMO fo the OIF for approval

by the 661 Committee™.. On 26 February 2002 the Mission informed

Hemphill that the contract had been approved®.

[111.] On 17 September 2002 {during Phasa 12) Hemphill, in his capacity as the

manzging director of "Chmni Oil Co (South Africa)” wilth the FParkmore

address and the shared Falcon telephone number, signed Contract Mo.

Mi12/80™ after completing and signing an application for approval of this

contract on behalf of Omnl Oil SA Ld™,

[112.)0n 26 January 2001 Al Khafgji directed a letter to Majzli which he sent by
faczimile from the Falcon Group™, The letterhead and logo identified a
corporation, Omni Oil Incorporated. of 16810 West 10 Mile Road,
Southfield, Michigan 48075, USA, An inference arises that Omni Ofl
wasg |n fact incorporated in the USA, but that Hemphill falled to
disciose this to the Mission. However, an Investigation by the
Commiszion, via ths Informstion Hesource Cenira at the LUS
Embassy, FPretoris and the database of the US Securities &nd
Exchanges Commission which Is made avallable on the intemet, has
established that 2 US company, Omnl Cll and Gas Inc. was formed in

early 2004 and has offices in Dallas (Texaz) and Danver (Colorado).

Yee dicum=nd “267 m Adedendem {ne
See document 3T in Addendom Tne.
s document 25" in Addendum Cme.
Ser decument "20% i Addendum .
See-dacumenl e Addendum One,



ll
Meither Al Khafsil nor Hemphlll are members ¢f the board or the
execulive management team. Omni Ol Incorporated could not be

tracad In the state of Michigan via avallable internst sources,

Monteoa Trading [Pty) Lid (“Monteqga”™), Imvume Management (Ptv) Lid
(“Imvume"} and Malali

HC silegations

{113.] Takle 1 conizins the following information about Montega. |l was a private
company, The Mission country was South Africa. One contract was
concluded (“the Montega Contract™). The non-contractual beneficiary was
Majali, Two millicn barrels were allocated of which 1, 858, 530 barrels
were lifted, The confract value was US § 45, 502, 470, The surcharges
levied amounted to US § 484, 633. Thiz amount ("Montega's debt”)

remained gutstanding. Table 2 reveals that the relevant contract number

was MOSIE,

[114.] A letter of approval of the Montega Contract (the Montega letter of

approval’)™. signed by the Ol Minister on 1 January 2001 records the

following, intar afia, that-

(g}  Mr Sandi Majali was the advisar of the Prezident of the Republic of

South Afries:

The Moniega loticr of approval sppears ar page 106 afthe 10 Repon
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(b & recovery amount was payable within one month aler shipment

loading; and

{c]  the detsils of the contract signed betwesn Montega and SGMO, on

21 December 2000, and contsined in the Monlega letler of

approval, were based on the instructions of the Oil Minister given

on thal day

[115.] According to Table 3 Majalk was 2iso the nen-contractual beneficiary of
two other confracts concleded by Imvume Management: firstly, Contract
Wo. MM 172 (“the Firat Imvume Contract”) for the purchase of 2 million
bamels which were not lifled. and secondly, Contract Mo, M{12/78 {"the
Second Imvume Contract”) for the purchaze of 4 million bamels. Table 1
reflects that the value of the latter was US § 100, 709, 660 and that
Imvume lifted 4, 007, 505 barrels, Table 3 reflects that 4, 002, 000 barrels

were lifted. Tables 1 and 2 reflect thai no surcharges were levied on or

paid by Imwume. This concluzion is contradicied by the leflers of

approval. dated 30 March 2002 and 2B July 2002, which required the
"Amouni{s) of surcharge: to be paid within 30 days after delivery”. Motes
an the SOMO Allocation Records relating to the Firsl Imvume Contract

record an, “Instruction referring to (a) lelter from Kgalema Motlanthe,

Secretary-General of the ANC®.

(116.] According to the Ministry of Gil 2n "advance” surcharge payment of US &

60, 000 was deposited at the Ceantral BEank of lrag on 20 May 2002,
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Agcarding to the SOMO records the payment was made in connechion
with the First imvume Contract. While an advance surcharge payment

hzd zllegedly bean made in respect of the First Imvume Contract,

WMaontega's debt ramzined unsatisfied.

The case against Majail

[117.]

[118]

Evidentially, the text of the lIC Report placez an onus on Majzli {and
Imvume), to rebut admissions signed by Majali. On 17 Ociober 2005
Aaron, sddressed a letter ("Majali'z response") fo Susan M Ringler
(Counsel for the 11C), challenging the fairness of the [IC investigation and

responding o2 summary of a proposed 1IC Report relating to the conduct

of Montega and Imvume™,

In Majal's response he denigd being aware of the surcharge srrangement
in respect of Montega &t the time (during Phase 9), when he, Al Khafaji
and Hemphill had intially discussed the terms of the Montega allocation
with SOMO. Majali alleged thal he only became aware of the surchange
requirement after the Montega cargo had been lifted and that he had no
intention ai all of paying the surcharges. Although Imvume had received
an allocation of two million barrels in Phaze 11 Majali had made it clear fo
SOMO that no surcharge would be paid,. BOMO may well have levied a
gurcharge but this was never part of the contractual srrangement with

hMajali. The last aliegatlon does accord with the |IC Tables, However,

M ajali*s response appears gt pagos 130 10 236 of the 11C Repom.
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the documentation ldentified and displayad in the iext esizblizhes &
case agalnst Majall. Imvume and Mazjali denied having paid any

amount In reepect of any surcharge and in particular an advance

payment of US § €0, 000,

In relation to hiz alleged ties to the ANC, Majall admitied that he had a
long standing and close relstionship with the membership. He also
admitted that the ANC had promoled the business activities of Imvume
with the authorities of the former Iragi Government, but that this was done
in the "course of, legitimate, above board poltical support and promotion
af Imvurme as an emerging Black Economic Empowerment resources

trading company in the restrucluring of the South African oil and fuel

industry™,

Despite his denials it was incumbent upon Majzli to explain a written
undertaking as well as & written propozal to pay surcharges which Majali
had made to SOMO and to the Minister of Oil respectively. In both
gocuments he acknowledged indebtedness above his signature. (The
last-mentioned document s referred to below as the "proposal letter).
Both the undertaking and the proposal letter were wrnitten and signed on

the letterhead of imvume. They constitule the foundation of the |IC's case

apgainst Majali
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I his undated undertaking, which was directed to the Acting Executive
Director-General of SOKD, Mr Al R Hassan ("Hassan") Majal stated the
following-

“ SANDI MAJALI REPRESENTATIVE OF IMYUME MAMAGEMENT

UNDERTAKE TG PERFORM ALL MY OBLIGATIONS ACCORDING TOC

SOMO REQUIREMENTS REGARDING RETURN MONEY (LE US
DOLLARS 0,30 PER BARREL FOR US DESTINATION OR (US
DOLLARS 0.25) FOR FAR EAST DESTINATION FOR THE QUANTITY
OF 2 MILLION BARRELS OF BASRAH LIGHT CRUDE QIL GRADE TO

BE LIFTED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF BILL OF LADING®

{In their reporf the |IC remarks that these surcharge rales were the same

as those imposed during the majority of the surcharge phases™.). The

signatory of the proposal letter alec appears to be the signatory of the
undertaking. During Maiali's interview™ with 1IC representatives {*Majzli's
imterview”™) Aaron acknowledged, with reference to Majall, that the

signature on the proposal letter "is probably your signature. ...

The proposal letter suggests at the cutset that Aziz, Majall and Motlanthe
had mel on 10 May 2002 during the Baghdad conference, and that they

had discussed the First Imvume Contract. The stated purpose of the latter

was “to request & rescheduling of the payment contract due fo yourselves.

the history of which is common cause”. The propo=al letter also states

that on 6 March 2002 “we proposed to =efile the cutstanding amounts of

i

Ses pige 111 o the 114 Kepart
Sec paragraph 141 s,
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US § 464, 000 in two equal instglments of US § 332 000 from the

proceeds of two liftings that were negotiated in favour of Imvume under

Crude Cil Contract Mo, M/11/72 dated 27/03/2002" (i.e. from the proceeds
of the First Imvume Contract), Ma@l @Bler explained 1o the HO's
represantatives that the content of the proposal letter and the associated
repayment agreement had in fact been traversed by & discussion which he

was involved in™. He alse denied that Matlanthe was presenl.

Besides making a sefflement proposal fo SOMO on 6 March 2002

Imvume also concluded a supply contract with the SEF ("the SFFAmvume

supply agreement”). Mr Malbongwe Mandela ["Mr M Mandelz")
reprezented Imvume and Dr Renosi Mokzste ("Mokate®), the Chief
Executive Officer represented the SFF™. This agreement recorded that
Irwurne had tendered to =ell four million barrels of Basrah LCO to the

SFF, and that the SFF had later decided to select Imvume as a tenderer to

supply tfwa million barrels.

[124.] The proposal |sttar may hava been written in the second half of May

or in early June, ae the letter suggests that a submiaslon had been
made for {futura) lifting on & June 2002 and that the repayvment
contained in the proposal was to be scheduled for 15 July 2002, The

proposal lefter also stated that & second instalment would reguire a further

Yee pnge 53 of transorips of Majali inteeview (docwrent <017 m Addendum CGne)
S docuneent =127 o Addendem §ing



allocation of two million barmels ‘in terms of which we would commit to

zettle the outstanding balance by 15 August 2002

[125] This reauest for further allocation was probably related to the tact that, on

21 May 2002, Wr M Mandela sipned a letter on behalf of Imvume {directed

ia Mokate ai the SFF), confirming that Imyvume had agreed 10 sell a further

cargo of two million bamels of Basrah LCO to the EF_F“L The sale was

concluded under the terms and condilions that were contained in the

original  SFFE/imvurme supply agreement dated 6 March 2002

Significantly Imvume is alleged to have paid &an advance surcharge
towards the First Imvume Contract on the previcus day within a day
of a need developing, on their part, to receive the sllocation of =
further alliotment of two million barrels in ordar to meet the extanded

requirement of this supply agreement.

[126.] A transiation of a pote signed by the Director of SOMO and stamped by

the Oil Ministry on 18 June 2007 states "Add amount of 2 million barrels

{lo”) facililate payment of dues in instalments — for the upcoming visit of

Mr. Tareqg Aziz 1o Scuth Africa’. Another transiated note signed on 21

June 2002 states the following:

“In_accordance with the above instructions and conversation with

the Minister on 2008/2002. (lllegible} (2} allocated for phase 11 + (&)

gliocated for phase 12 + {2} addtional amount = 6 million_barrels, .,

for necessary action and arrsngement for payment in instalments of

o documeent 2330 in Addendum Dnc.
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[128.]

T
the surcharge amounl according lo the above agreement (Signed

21/61".

zeg against Maotlanthe

Cn ¥ March 2002, 20 days before the Firsl Imvume Contract was
conciuded, the Ambassador of Irag to South Africa, Zahir Mohammad
Ahmad Al-Omar {“Ambassador A-Omar’), directed a letter 1o Aziz (*the
Ambassador's letter’)™. The subject waz another letler which had been
eodressed fo Aziz by Mollanthe which Ambassador Al-Omar annexed {o
his own letter, (The content of Motlanthe’s lelier ramains unknown.). The
Ambassador's letier was stamped by the Oil Ministny on 7 March 2002, A
mandwritten note on this letter, by the director of 30OMO, recorded that the
permission of the Vice President of the Republic had been obtained for the
allocation of twe million barrels. Another handwritten note. signed on 7

March 2002, recorded that the amount had been requested by Majali.

Inter alla, the content of the proposal letter and the Ambassador's
latier constitute the substantial basis on which 2 case against
KMotlanthe was raised in the text of the IC Report The mandate of
the IIC did not require it to go so far as to maeke out 2 caze againet
the ANC. Nevertheless, the IC Report caste an unambiguous

innuende on Moelianthe. It suggests further that a case for

Sec decwnent <397, which s & wanstanons of the Ambpsador Al-Cmar’s Tester, in Addendum
e,
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rezponsibility ¢n the part of South Africa might exist. In the
circumstances the findings of political manipulation in Chapter 2 of

the I1C Repori* heve not been Ignored in this report.

[129.] Frem the documents referrec to above It appears that, at the same
time as Malali claims 1o have mel with representatives of SOMO (i.e.
on § kMarch 2002}, in order to negotiate an oil allocation for Imyvume
during Phase 11, he was aleo faced with the hurdle of setiling
Montegs’s debt, which remained outstanding from Phase 3. He
gpperently agreed to pay. Majall bound imvume to settle Montega's
debt in order to acquire the oil which was necessary to fulfil the
EFFimvume supply contract. Tha SFF was therefors drawn into the
canepiracy bebween Majali and the Iragi Qil Minizter. Thig had the

effect of subveriing Resolutions 661 and 986.

[130.] The documentation leaves one in no doubt that Majali seriously and
deliberately undertook {o pay the surcharge owed by Montega from
the praceeds of imvume sales to the SFF. Between March and June
2002 he consplred with the lragls to pay these surcharges.
Majall/imvume prebably pald the advance surcharge of US § 60, 000
an the First Imvume Contract as a token of good faith =c &= to securs
the allotrnent of an extra two million barrels to mest the further
reguirements of the SFF. Tha izgus of further surcharges pavable In

rezpact of Imvume contracts wauld inevitably have arlsen In any

Sep peges 103 L 114 ol the 10 Beaur,



78
negotiations with the Cil Minigtry, a& scon as lhe settlement of

Montega's debt from the proceeds of allecations o Imvume was

proposed.

[131)] Imyvume would have committed an offence under South African
domestic law ¥lz. fraud on the 5FF lor upon the State), if, when the
SFFimvume supply agreement was signed by Mr M Mandsla, Dr
Mokate was not informed that Majall was simultaneousiy atfempting
tc pay outstanding =urcharges from the proceeds of the oll
allecation which Imvume would pass on from SOMO to the SFF. The
relationship hetween the DME and the 8FF was described as “that of
a Principa! and an Agent” by the Director-Generzl of the DME,
Advocate Nogxing, in reply to 2 seriss of questions posad by the ail
and Guardian newspaper”, He went ocn o =ay, "it is the
responsibility of the WMinisiry t© manage Strategic Stocks and
Stratagic Fuel Fund manages the Strategic Stocks on behzalf of the

Ministry on an Agency basis",

[132] Attorney Asron, aching on behalf (of Majali and Imvume), has asserted
their right to be interviewed before the Commission issues a report:
becayse the allegations made by the 1IC, which the Commission has been
called upon lo investigate and report on, are allegedly damaging the
reputations of his clients and adversely impact upon their business

dealings, As wlil appear below, Motlanthe, who iz at least 2 materizl

S docymend 357 i Addendun One
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witness fo the pzayment of surcharges by Majslifimyurne, may have &

complete answer to zllegations of his own complicity tharein, which

are suggested in the |G Raport.

Company History of Mantega

[133]

[134.]

Montega epitemises the intermediary companies which, according to the
IC Report, the Iragie relied on to facilitate surcharge paymenis. A
company search revezled that ffontegz was registered and commenced
business on 8 August 2000 Its main funclion i described as being
“wholesale and retail trade - repair motor vehicles®. One director, who
was appointed on 8 August 2000 was Ms Fiona Me Murray, 2 UK national.
The other, Hemphill, was apparently appointed as 3 director on 5

September 2000, Majali is not reflected as a director.

Cunng Januzsry 2002 suditors Deloifie and Touche Corperate Finance
{"the audilors"), performed a2 limited financial due diligence review of
Imvume™, apparently to satisfy tender criteriz of the SFF. Their sources of
infarmation  included  Majali  ["Imvume Chairman™, Iver Ichikowitz
(“Ichikowitz™), Poole and Ricci Schwab ("Schwab’). |chikowitz appears to
have been Majal's mentor. In answer to an interrogatory from the IIC™,
lchikowitz afleged that he was an independent aperator who had no direct

affiliation with SOFAR/Glencore, However. he had waorked with SOPAK

mee duciamen: T3 in Addendum Cme.
Ser docurmant #2377 In Addendurn D,
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B
for several years, identifving and introducing them fo  business
cpportunities in South Afrca, including the contracts with Mentegz and
imvume, He eventually represented Imvume in its correspondence with
the SFF, Poole and Schwab were members of the atiorneys firm Bell,
Dewsar and Hall, whe were the atlomeye for Hemphill in the first instance,
faler acted for both Hemiphill and Majali, and ultimately {in Hemphill's view)
in the interests of Majali alone. The auditors reviewed the “supply
agreements” of Monlegza for the 200M hnancigl year, which Imvume placed
raliance on to win the tender with the SFF. In fact Montega was only

involved in one supply agreement, the Montega Contract.

During &n initial interview (on 23 January 2002}, lhe audilors ware
infermed that Montegas was owned by three shareholders, namely,
Hemphill, Majal and Al Khafaji,. They were further informed that Monteoa
was used to secure the allocation of one contract "at a time when Imvume
was still being conceptualized”. SOPAK allegedly acted “as an arms
length counter party to the transaction®. The audilors perused certain
documents &t the offices of the abovementioned attorneys. but the
shareholding in Montegs was never proved by the documents. Mowhere
n the documentation was the aleged shareholding or even the
registration number of Montega mentioned. Majali 1s referred to as a

director of the compariy. He had signed the Montega Contract with

SOMO in the capacity of director.
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[136.] The suditors’ report noled that in the tender documents submited {o the

SFF by Imvume, Imvume stated that Meontega wat 3 subgidiany of

imvume. No evidence was seen 10 suppon this statement. In fact,

Imvume was only Ingerporated on 12 February 2001, "at which fime the

Montena transachon was already complete”

Cther illustrative documentation

[137)] On 24 Movember 2000, in a letter” signed by Hemphill as ‘director.

Montega Trading {Pty) Ltd" (having the shared contact details with Falcon

and Omni Oil]. the Mission was regquested to register Montega for the

trade In and distribution of lragl Ol n terms of Resolution 661. Dormehl

was requested ko "please note that we will be travelling to lrag over the

latter half of next week”. The “we" referred io were made up of Hamphill,

Majali and Al Khafaji.

[138]) On 21 Decermber 2000 the Mission requested the OIF to register
Montega. On the =ame day the 661 Committae informed Dormah| that the
il Overseers had registered Montega as a national oil purchaser, which

was authorized 1o communicate with the Ol Overseers i terms of

Resalution 9B86.

il - e
See document "5E in Addenduze O
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[440]

[141)]

=
On 23 December 2000. Hemphill directed 2 letter io Dormeh™ 1o which he

attached the Moniega Confract "as signed between ourselves and the

State Oil Marketing Organization on the 21 instant ....".

The 661 Committes infermed Montega (Majali) en 2 January 2001 that
their contract had been approved. It iz worth noting that both of
Montege's aforementioned letters referred to Hemphill and Majsli az
directors. The third joint venture pariner, Al Khafajl, was not
mentionad. Counsel for the IIC regard It as significant that the
Mission applied for Montega's replistration at the UN on the same
date as the Montegza Confract was concluded by Majall in lrag, By
this time Iragi officials had probably made Majzli end Hemphill aware

of the surcharge requirament

The Commissicn is in pozsession of 2 confidential transcript™ of a meeting
("Majali's interview”), which was held ai the offices of Barry Aaron and
Associates on 30 June 20057,  The interview was atlended by two
representatives of the |IC as well as by Majali and Aaron (who was
Majali's attorney atf the time) and by Aaron's Secretary. In explanation of
what had taken place in Baghdad on or about 21 December 2000, Majali

stated thalt he, Hemphill sand Al Khafaji had all been involvad in

<

Seedocwment 529 in Addeidurn Cng.

See dociment S0 en Auklendom Cme. Copigs nf the tmnscript 2nd sdditional docoments wens
handed over to the Commission by Aoren on & Bay 2006 {the date onowhich the Commission’s
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artbchicd 1o the handing over of the Transcripl is st owl o parsgraph 43 ol Aaron's letier fa the
Chajrpersen on T June 20080 A copy of the letter ic ottached to the lemer addressed 1o the
Presidency which accompenies this report, See foownote L3 supa,
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dizcussions with representatives of SOMO in Baghdad. The Morlega

contract was in the process of baing negotiated and the surcharge issue

was dizcussed “informally™. Upeon a proper interpretation of Majsli's

statements, 28 they appear in tha transcript, Majali contradicted his

response to the IIC which appears in the |IC Report

[142] The irresistible inference which srizes from the documents is that
during or about 21 December 2000 the Oil Minister or his
representztive held discussions with Majali, A Khafaji and Hemphill.
Majali informed tha lragiz that he was an adviscer (o tha President and
they informed him that Montega would receive an aliocation, but that
it would have to pay a surcharge. Majall and Hemphill neglected to

gdlsciose the last-mentloned requirement to the Mizsion.

[143.] During Majail's Interview he averred thet it was made very clesr to
SOMO that Montega was not in 2 position to pay the reguired
surcharges. This seems unlikely. The suggestion contradicts the
detall of the Montepa Contract, which was exchanged beiwean the
Executive Director of SOMO and the Qil Minigter within days of the
meeting with Majali, Hemphill and A! Khafsji; namsly that the

standard surcharge clause applied”,

Spe iranseripe ot Maeinli interview papes 1017
See [1C Reportp 106,
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[145]

54

Malall algo contends that he hed made [ clear o0 Ambassador Al
Omar that he woulc not trade unless the UM approved payment of
the {(Montega) surchzrge. Thig proposition would have struck at the
very heart of the prohibitions contained in Resolutions 661 and 586
which were almed at denying financial access to the Iragi regime and
ite institutions. As & businessman Majall would have known betfer

than t¢ make the suggestion alleged.

The rationale relied on by Majali to exculpate himself waz that
Montega could not irade profitably if it had to pay tha surcharge. He
claims to have made this clear o the lragi's durling December 2000,
The argument should fail for four reasons. Firstly, because Majall
nevertheless (and almost certainly) signed an undertaking to pay the
recovery amount which arose from the Montege Contract™
Secondly, because he made a written admission that he was liable to
do so, which ha then coupled to 2 written proposal to pay the
surcharge In two Instalments™. What Is most significant about the
proposal letter i that it lacks any suggestion whatsoever that Majali
hatd ever been unwilling to pay surcharges, or indeed that he
entertained the reservations which he exprassed in his interview with
members of the 1IG. Thirdly, Al Khafall and Hemphill, who had no
gquaims about making the surcharge payment in regpect of the Omnij

Contract, were both Majall’s venlure pariners in Montega.

Bea IIC Reportp UL
Sec I Report po 113,
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[1448.] Ancther ground for rejecting Majali's denial arigas from instructions

that must have been glven to Poole by Majall andfor Hamphill, and
which appear in 3 memorandum written by Poole, dated 18 March
2001, (“the Pocle report™)”. On 2 Aprll 2001 Schwab sent the Pocle
repert to Hemphill under cover of a letier. The report waz haaded,
“On the Montega Crude Oll Transaction”. Tha zalient aspacts of the
transaction were =at oul thersin. Parte of paragraph 4 of this

memorandum are illuminating. They are quoted below,

[147.] After Montega and SOMO had concluded a contract an 21 December

2000 {20 the mamarandum slates).

4. Montega rescld the ol to BOPAK SA of Rue St Pierre 18, Ch-1701

Fryburg, Switzerand on 16 January 2001, Written conformation of
this contract was telexed by SOFAK to Montega an 17 January
2001.

in terms of this contract-

4.1

42 Interms of clause 7 the price was to be equal to the zelling price

approved by the UM (OSP) for the month of lifting plus $0.30 per

barrel, and the Uniled Mahbons pricing formula for applicable

destination was to apply.

P

Sge doceinent “44" in Addendam Qe
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4.3  In terms of clause B the buyer was 1o establish a letter of credit on
behalf of the seller in favour of the United MNations at least ten days
pricr to leading date. This letter of credit was to be for the basic

price payable to the United Mations., The remaining US § 0. 30 per

bamel was lo be paid directly to SOMO within 30 days of the bill of

lading date”,

[148.] Such payments to SOMO were prohibited by Resalutions 661 and

[145]

488, As an attorney Poole must have known this. As contemplated
by paragraph 4.3 of the Poole report, SOPAK's principal, Glencore
established the necessary letter of credit. As between SOMO and
Montega 1t is probable that Montega was bound to pay 26 cenis
surcharge to the lragis cut of the 30 ceniz pwed to Montaga by
S0OPAKI/Glencore. This reflects the nature of the performance that

SOMO did claim from Montega.

Faragraph 11 of the Montega letler of approval. dated 28 Decermnber 2001,
made it clear that the surcharge In question had to be paid to SOMO
within one month of delivery. The surcharge amount of US § 464, 000
which Majali undertook to settle *in two equal Instalments of US § 232,
000 from the preceeds of the twa liftings of the First Imvume Cantract,
dated 27/03/2002", related to the surcharge owing on the number of
barrels actually lifted by Montega viz. 1, B58, 530. The amount of
surcharge levied by SOMO (LS $ 464, 833) and admitted by Majali

amounts ta 25 cents a barrel on 1, 858, 532 barrels.



[150.]

g7

When regard is had to the passive role of Montega in the execution of the
contract it concluded, the retention of 5 cents on two million barrels was &
reasanable profit for merely obtaining the contract and processing it

threugh the Mission,

[151.] The Poole report also records that Montega made numerous atiempts,

{withoul =uccess) to obtain a signed agreement from SOPAK, Eventually
Montega did receive a docurment headed “Agency Agreement” which was
signed, on 29 January 2001, by Hemphill {on behalf Montega)™. This

agreement appears 1o have been a sham.

Sham agreements

[152.]

[153 ]

Advearse inferances may ba drawn against Mantega, imvume, SOFAK
and Clancore as a result of documentation which they generated and
which is transparently calculated to mizrepresent the facts and
circumstances which axizied at the tims. The zgancy agresment

between Montega and SOPAK was one of thesa.

Glencore, in the execution of the Monlega Contract, arrangsd the
shipping, paid tha insurance and saw fit o redirect the cargo of oil that
was lifted to a destination [Singapore) other than the ones contemplated

by Montega's agreement with SOMG. This resulted in an exira cost 1o

Seedocument "42" 0 Addenthem One.
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[155]

3
Montega of Euro 8. 523, 21B. 58, which became due o SOMO in
accordance with the pricing formula which should have been applied o
the Montega contract™ The redirection by Glencore/Sopak violated an
actual pricing farmula which had been agreed lo between Montega and

SOMO and was approved by the UN,

The circumstances surrounding the “Agency Agreement” between
SOPAK and Montega, which was only concluded two days baefors tha
lifting of oil and 2 manth after Montaga had contracted to purchase

cil from SOMO, render the material terms of this contract

incomprehensible.

Clause 2 deals with services that SOPAK wished to recaive from Montega

in relation to the Montega Contract viz. advice and assistance with regard

to thig oil transaction. It state= that in the event of problems arising from

the execution of transactions “covered by present agreement it is agresd

between Ine paries that Montegs would assist SOPAK in solving any

ocperational. shipping. demurrage. supply and or administrative problems.”,

There can be no dispute that one reason for the involvement of
Glencora/SOPAK  was that Montega lacked any axperienca
whatscever in the very areas where the Agency Agreement bound
Maontega to provide expertizse.  In the Majali Intervlew Majall

confirmed that Montegafimvume ware on a laarning curve at this tima

Spe LM Treasuey letrer 1o the Vice Mretodent of B™NP Partbas deted 2 8areh 2001 ddociinent "45°

it Addenclum [,
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[157.]

[158]

EY
and were prepared to “fake the knocks" imposed on them by

Glencore for that reason.

Montega purchased from SOMO as a principal and resold fo
SOPAKIGlencore. In no sense was Montega the agent of SOPAK.
The irresiztible Inference s that a confusion of contractual
arrangements was Intended by Glencora/SCPAK to disguise the
underlying reality viz, that Montega was being exXposed to the

payment of surcharges In 2 slde agreement with 30MC,

|n =upport of the last submission it 15 relevant that Articdle § of the Agancy
Agreement provided that SOPAK would pay Mantega a commission of 30
cents per barel, which is consistent with the inference that Montega was

bound to pay SOMO the 25 cents per barrel surcharge.

That thi= was a convenient business ammangement for Glencore is
apparent from the way it manipulated subseguent events. The il was
lifted betwesn 29 January and 2 February 2001. The ship camying
Montaga's oil was diverled Yo the Far East {by Glencore or SOPAK)

Montega's indebledness to SOMO increased. On 27 February 2001 (i.e.

Montega confimning that the final destinstion of the cargo was the USA

Gulf Coastt On the basis of this deslingtion the underlying
Montega/50MO UN approved sale had provided for a substantial

discount On 28 February 2001 {sccaording to the Poole report) Montegs




[159]

[160]

tH]

conveyed the information received from SOPAK o SOMO,  SOMO

discovared the truth. On 1 March 2001 they inforrned Mantaaa that the ol

had been diverted to Singapore.

Montega's misreprasentation gave rise to a claim by SOMOC for the price
differential. This seriously affected the standing and reputation of
Montega with SOMO and the UM, as well as Montega's profit.  This
imeguiarity was of major concem to the Cil Ovarsesrs. Not only did it
damage the income of the UN Escrow Account, but it appeared o sel a
precedent™. Tha Oil Overseers referred the issue to the 561 Committee
where the United States representative guened the approval of any further
contracts (nvolving Montega™, By 8 May 2001 the 861 Committee had
become familiar with Glencore's predilection for the diversion of
contractually agreed deslinations. The Swiss authorties were then

requested to investigate another Glencore diversion (e, a lift of Kirkuk

from the USA to Croatia.

Glencore, which had been an International cll trader before the
Pregramme commenced, simply continued fo trade under tha
Programme, but &t arms length. It did so by explolting a makeshlift
company, with no asseis or experience, but endowed with a
politically acceptable nationality. Glencore's relationship with
Montega was such that the latter had to besar the brunt of Irag's

See Ohl Uverseers |eler, daled 15 March 20015 b0 the &6 Committee (documenr 44" m
Adddendum Cnez),

S aurmimiry recand o 21 fa fre=ding o the aq | Committes held on 5 Apnl 281 (decoment 457
in Aaddendum Ol
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surcharge demands as well any risk of contractual breach {and price
increase) caused by Glencare in responding to the demands of iis
own market, SOPAK meraly zerved io distance Glencore from these

liicit activities.

[181] Glencore's predilection for deception is demonsirated further by a
draft Istter of credit which It directed to the ENP as well as by the
terms of @ contract which was signed by Mr M Mandela on 5 Aprll

2002 on behalf of Imvume™ (“the ImvumelGlencore agreamant”).

[182] As stated above, the two million barrels of oil purchased by Montega were
to be resold to Glencore, which provided the letier of credit for the sole
Maontega Contract. In dealing with the Escrow Bank Glencore insisted that
its name should be concealed from disclosure to thind parties. At page
107 of the IC Report, there appears an apparent draft letier of cradil,
directed by Glencore to BNP on 18 January 2001, raquesting the issue of
a lefter of credif in fawvour of the UN on behalf of Montega and
guaranteeing all the obligations of Montega, subject to the following
additional requast-

*HOWEWVER. PLEASE MWOTE GLENWCORE AG'S NAME MUST NOT

APPEAR ON ANY CORRESPONDENCE YOL SEND TO THIRD
PARTIES".

= Bee docurment 467 00 Addendum Oine.
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[164.]

a2
Though Imvume was the purchaser from SOMO under the Flrst
imvume Contract, sx facie the Imvumel/Glencore agreement Imvume
waz the buyer of twe milllon barrels of Basrah LCO from Glencore.
Paragraph & of the contract provided that the price would be equal o the
OSSP formula approved by SOMO and the UN for the perod of lifting plus

a premium of US 48 cents (per bamal]. Reference to the 48 cents appears

o be deleted on the document. Mo explanation sxists as to why Glencore
would have had 1o sell the oil 0 Imvume, when Imvume had already

purchased it from SOMO.

Basad on the documentation before the Commission, the
explanations given by Majali do not bear scrutiny. Substantially,
howevear, the documeaniation in question amounts to hearsay and the
stateaments therain have not been tested agalnst oral evidenca. In
order to exercise its duty 1o analyse 1IC Information, the Commission
should ba placad in tha position to guestion ralevant pergons in
arder to establish precisely; (a) who, if anybody, was involved in the
apparent conspiracy to pay surcharges owed by Montega to the
Iragis; and (b) whether, in fact, Majali and Imvume were Invoived In
the payment of US § 80, 000 advance on the First Imvume Contract,
The necessary witnesses therefore include Ichikowitz, Poole,
employees at the SFF (particularly Jawoodeen) and the DME
(particularly Nogxina), as well as Mcetlanthe. Apparently during

September 2001, the last three were involved in discussions with the



a3
lragis. Dne izsue was the payment of surcharges which the lragls

required from BEE companies such as Mentega and imvuma.

Imvima Management (Pty) Lid (“lmvumea’)

165 ]

A gompany search revealed that the enterprise Imvume Management was
registerad and stared business on 12 February 2001, Majali, who was

appointed on 22 May 2001, is one of the directors,

lHustrative Documentation

[165.]

[167.]

On & September 2001 the Missian (Cardy) informead Mr Lawrence Yenkile
{another director of Imvume), that the company had been registered with
the Q1P as a nafional purchaser of Iragi Crude Qil. This followed the

Mizsion's receipt of registration from the Oil Overseers on the previous

day™'.

On 1 February 2002 Majali signed a draft SFE/mvume (supply)

agreement” which provided for 2 selling price squal to the OSF plus 2

premium of 48 cents net per barel. That iz, had the SFF electad to

accept these terms they would have had o pay 48 cents more than they

ought to have done under a direct purchase from Irag/SOMO™. The

S dnwiziet 7" in Addendiom T
Aee document AR in Addeidoir Ooe.
[uring the 216* cinsed meeting af the 061 Commitec, beld an 5 Apeil 2000 the Ol Uverseer, M
Tellinge wis asked by the WS representotive o e Comintitkze whal the ol corseqoence
would bave heen if she compuny which had diverted oil (Monrezal had come fom 8 -differsn
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&

“

SFFAmeume Contract, which was evenfually concluded on 8 March 2002,

alzo provided for a premium of 48 cents. Clagse 171 noted that the

tender price was quated on dated Brent less US 3 2.28. Both paries then

acknowledned that there was no OSP currently available for South African

dastinafion. Thearefore the price was calculated In US dollars F.O.B, Mina-

Al-Bakr and would be “equal io the OSP formula when approved by

SOMO and the United Mations for South Africa for the period of lifting...

plus a premium of US dollars 0.48 per net bol”. It seems that Clause

17.1 obfuscated the price diferential between what the SFF sught to
have been paying (viz. the O5P) and what it agreed to pay. For
reasons which appear below the aforementioned acknowledgement

was probably unnecessary because an existing QSP could have

been applied to this contract.

On B March 2002 M Goodfellow of Glencore wrote o Mokate:
‘Undertaking on behalfl of Glencore to assist Imvume to fulfil its obligations
in tarme of the SFFAmvume supply agreament of & March 2002™, The
multipke transactions (.e. SOMOImvume/SFF) were to be backed by the

finance of Glencore which dire¢led a confimnation of the transaction

‘concluded between our two companies on 6 March 2002 to Imvume.

The confimmation was signed by Mr M Mandela on § Apnl 2002 The

relevant terms thereof for present purposes were that Glencore

(esdraordinanly) was reflected as the "Seller” and Imvume as the "Buyer”,

——

couistey, Fellings replied: .. Uhe major ol exporting coumtriss uegally denlt dirsctly with the
endsusers, o intermedinries such ns Montepn Trading were nat involyved"

Rew document "985 in Adddendum One

Sep docurent “ 50" i Addendun Chne.
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In farmz of Clause 7 Glencore would “invoice” the SFF directly on behalf
of and in the name of Imwume. [t appears that during June, Majal's
attorneys. Bell, Dewar and Hall draftea an agreement which was never
signed™, hut which was more consistent with reality viz. the assignment of

Imvume's rights t& Glencora.

[169.] The First Imvume Contract was concluded on 27 March 2002, Twe millian

(170

bamels were allocated. As stated above, Table 3 suggests that a letter
fram Motlanthe played some role in this allocation, and a handwritten note
on the Ambassador's lefter lo AzZiz (to which a letter from Motlanthe was
annexed), stated that the director of SOMO had obtained the pemmission
of (Wice President) Ramadan and of Aziz for the allocation of these two
million barrels of cil. Motlanthe is therefore s material witnass to the
conspiracy between Majali/lmvume and the Oil Minister which has
been referred to above. Motlanthe has been requested to furnish the

Commission with a copy of the aforementioned letter or to disclose

its content.

The Commission has established thai the letter from Motlanthe may be
exculpatory. Steven Miller. an Assistant United States Attomey for the
Southern District of Mew York, has informed the Chairperson thal he
conducted an interview with Hemphill in Switzarland duoring May 2005,
Hemphill revealed that he had helped Maotlanthe to seftle 2 lettar, probably

the one in question. In that |etter Motlanthe had requested the lragl

See doeciament <517 i Adderdum (e,
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authorifies not to impose ol surcharges. The apparent response of
Motlanthe, upon first being informed of the surcharge lavy, was one of
indignation. The suggestion is that the South African peltical delegation,
of which Motlanthe was a member, had visiled Iraq in order o assist it in
removing oppressive sanctions. Therafore Maotlanthe believed they should
nol have been compromised by an illicit levy. The Commission has
agreed lo use this information on the understanding that a “proffer

agreement” between the US Attorney and Hemphill will not be violated™.

[171.] The letter approving the First Imvume Contrach, which was directed by

[172]

5]

Haszszan to the Oil Minister on 30 March 2002™, recorded that an
agreement had been reached bebween Ramadan and Aziz. |t al=o
referred to the Ministers note on the letter of the Ambassador. The
approval not only states that the amount of surcharge had to ba paid
within 30 days after delivery, but also that the delivery perod was "hefore
28/05/2002°. An approval in similar terms existe in relation 1o the Second
Imvume Contract for the four million barrels. This was concluded on 27
July 2002, with a delivery period "before 25M1/2002°. An application for
approval of the second Imvume Contract was signed by Mr M Mandela for

Imvume and was approved by the Qi Overseers on 7 August 2002%

it s quite apparent that during May 2002 Majali had to juggple

Montega’'s debt with the constraintz of the further surcharges

A fopy ot che profter apreement i= ahnched oo the [sher addressed o the Fresidency which
ncoompenies this peport. Bee focdnode 15 tupea.

Ree docurnent 51 mn Addlencdurm O,

are docuwment "33 in Addardum Clne.
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raquired by SOMO in respest of the First Imvume Contract and the
time pericds laid dewn for delivery by both S0MO and the SFF. Itis
therefore likely that he would have been prepared fo make an
advance surcharge paymani on Imvume'’s First Contract on 20 May
2002: that s on the day befora Imvume's supply agreement with the

5FF wag sxpanded from two milllon to four milllan barrals.

[173] On 6 June 2002 Imvume nominated a vessel, SEBUISLIB, to load the First

Imvume Contract during the perieds 25 to 30 June 2002%. DOn 8 June

2002 S0OMO directed an urgent lefter, signed by Hassan, putting Imyvume

and Majali to terms to fulfil Monlega's obligations as specified “in your

lefter presented in Baghdad on 5 March 2002, failing which SOMO

stated, "your memorandum of YWessel SEBEU/SUB to load 2, 000, 000 BBL
of Basrah Light Crude Oi during June 2002° would not be accepted.
SOMO later agreed to extend the validity of this contract up to 31 July

2002, bui Hassan added, "All other terms and conditions remain

unchanged”

[174.] Ultimately, the four million barrels allocated to Imvume were sourced from

two Russian companies, Slavneft and Machinoimport. These companies
purchased four million bamels of Iragi oil. under Contract Ma. 110103
i"the Slawneft Contract’) and Contract No. M1 1TS ("the Machinoimpert

Contract’)”. Glencore bought this oil for shipping to South Africa, |t

|

See decumont 54" in Adderdum G,
Sec document 55" in Addesdum One.
Sed dicunmenis “50" amd 577 in Addensum One.
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[176.]

(177 ]

o8
appears from Tahles 2 and 5 that surcharges were levied and paid en the
Machinoimpert Contract. SOMO records show that 2 lotal of US § 1. 087
413 in surcharges were levied on the Slavneft Contract, but that no levies

were paid. The SOMO ledger records this as outstanding.

On 11 February 2002, the 861 Committes approved the Slavneft Contract
Twea million barrels of Basrah LCO were allocated ex Mina-Al-Bakr, The
pricing fermula for the destination Europe andfor US markets was applied.

On 14 March 2002 Slavnefl requesied the Ol Overseers o approve the

lifting, dunng April 2002, of two million barrels of Basrah LCO ex Al-Bakr

for destination South Africa.  The approval of a pricing formula wiz. &0

percent of the Far East price formula and 50 percent of the European

price formula, “hoth applicable for Bagrah Light for Aprl 20027, was

requesied. Approval was granted on 18 March 2002,

The approval of this formula at that time demonstrates that the
acknowledgement which established the selling price in ths
SFFlmvume centract should not have arisen due fo a lack of an
official pricing formula for Bazrah LCO in Aprll 2002, This was when

loading was required in fermsz of the delivery clause 102 in the

EFFMTmvume Contract.

In a telex, dated 22 March 2002, SOMO's head of shipping advised

Slavnafl that their nomination of the wvessel “Uish", to It their



[178.]

[179]

[180]

&
aforementioned allocation, was acceptable; but only W previous por

charges at Al-Bakr (owing since 7 July 2000), were sattled™.

Pravipusly, on 2 March 2002, when Slavneft had not yet nominated a
parlicular vessel fo lift the o, Slavneft was advized that port charges
would have to be settled through an agent in Iraq or Jordan prior o the
armival at Al-Bakr of the wessel 10 be chartered. 3Slavneft wasz also
requested lo ensure thal the vessel in gueshon had settled its own port

charges for previous voyages to the por,

A similar telex was directed o Inmvume on 25 Septemier 2002, after it had
nominated the vessel “TBN" to lead two millien bamels on 11 October
2002. under the Second imvume Contract™, On & October 2002, after it
had accepted Imvumé's nomination of the wvessel “Kristhild®, SOMO
insisted that this acceptance was conditional upon the outstanding port
charges for her old voyages to Al-Bakr (namely, "US % 32. 888 on 15

Cletober 2001 and US % 32. 688 on 24 February 20027). being setiled™.

In the above circumstances the lifts of oll by Machinoimport and
Slavneft which were destined for the SFF &t the instance of Imvume
were tainted by illicit surcharges and port charges. Similarly imvume

became assoclated with the port charges dus by the vassel

"Kristhild".

LB

aee dooument 387 in Addemdum Cine,
S document 59" i Addendum Cne.
e document 607 10 Addemitum Cne.
S documen 4 1 in Addendumy Doe
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Polltical Symbiosis in the |IC Report

[181.] The text of the |IC Report™ contains a narrative headed “Sandi Majali® and
is Introduced with the following statement: "One example in the
Programme of exploitation of the symbiotic relationship between a
country's closely aligned political and business figures and the
Government of Irag. iz that of Montega Trading (Pty) Lid {'Montegs
Trading'] and Imvume Management (Pty) Lid {'Imvume’). As described
below, the principals of these two companies used their relationzhips with
South African leaders to obtain ol allocations under the Programme®,

This conclusion cannot be correct in 50 far as Montega Is concemed.

[182.] The repon refers (o a visit 1o Baghdad, in December 2000, by Al Khafaji,
Majali and Hemphill in order to meet officials. During the meetings in
question, “Mr Majali described himself as an adviser to both the ANC and
President Mbeki®. The report further stated that, “after several days of
meetings Mr Majali was allocated 2 million barrels of oil.”. In the Majali

interview Aaron acknowledged that Majalh was inclined lo cverstate his

cannaction

{183.] The esvidence befors the Commilsslon Indicates that Al Khafajl's
influence was used to introduce Majall to the Iragl authorities and

precipitated the Montega Contract. The joint venture between Al

Lthapter . section T p 103



[184.]

L
Khafaji, Hemphill and Majeli cbtsined an zllocation for Montega on 21
December 2000. On 268 January 20071 Al Khataji, who had baen contacted
by SOMO, directed a facsimile to Majaliga- Tharein Al Khafaji stated that
he had been informed by SOMO that “there s available for us up 1o eight
million barrels of Kikuk®, The letter suggests further that its author would
be in Bagdad on the following Monday when he would be in.a possession
to follow up with SOMO, “if there is any interast’. This lefter suggesis that
Al Khafaji and nol Majah took the lead in dealing with SOMO,
Furthermore Majali informed the WIC that after the execution of the
Montega contract. which had been obtained through the influence of Al
Khafaji, a dispute arose between the joint venture partners which
threatenad the existence of the parnership. Hemphill suggestad that

Maiali would obtain no further contracts without the link lo Al Khafaii

Although the conclusion was incorrect U is unllkely thatl this form of

persuasion would hava bean refied on if Majali's poltical connections had

brought about the =ole Montega Caonfract,

During the approximate period when Majali falled to conclude a
Phase 10 contract or to lift a Phaze 11 contract, Al Khafa]l was able
to obtain an allocation, to conclude the Omni Contract (MM10/24) and
to lift 2, 070, 270 barrels, with & contract value of US § 38, 550, 1€8. It

seems therefore that Al Khafaji was the more powerful political force

in the Programme at that time.

e documens “ 1 e Addendwn O
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[185.] In his interview with lIC investigators, Majall informed the IIC as follows.
"The Secretary-General of the ANC never ever got involved in commercial
dizcussion in lrag ... Motlanthe has was never ever got involved in the
commercial discussion in lrag, but all what they did was giving & verbal
sub (sic} political eupport ... From this and from the documents
referred 1o abova one may infer that Metlanthe was inslrumental in the

allasation of the First Imvume Contract

[186.] The |IC Report records that prior o the renewal of his oll contracts in
phases 11 and 12 Majali was very involved in strengthening ties between
South Africa and Irag. “In September 2001, as chairperson of both the
SAIFA and the South African Businezs Council for transformation
{("SABCETT, Majali led a South African delegation 1o Baghdad. This
ncluded officiais from the SA Strategic Fuel Fund Association and SA
Dept of Minerals and Energy”. The Director-General of the DME at the

tima, Nogxina, has previously denled that Majall led the delegation.

[1E87.] Tha Commizsion’'z tarms of reference do not reguire further
invastigation of polltical symbiosis. It s therefore not pursued, but
remaing subjact to the cbservations made above However, the
discussions and outcome of the visit of South African officials to
Baghdad, during September 2001, |s material to the issues which the
tarms of reference requira thls Commission to explore.

PART H

See transcipl of Sajali istary ew, pages 54 and 71,
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information within the pessession of the Depariment of Wineralz and
Ensrgy

[188.] On 7 Saptember 2001 Nogrina informed the Minister and Deputy Minister
of the DME of 2 proposed official (technicaly visit to Irag by Minerals and
Energy officials from 10 to 14 Seplember 2001. He requested the
Minister's approval for departmental officials to be par of the visiting team
to Irag. The justification was set out in his written request™ under a

heading "Deliberations’, which is quoted verbatim-

6.  There is room for expansion for more trade by South Africa under
the ‘Cil far Food' {UN) programme and to the present total of US §
70 Million was been calculated. It is recommended that the right
political atmosphere befweaen Irag and South Africa be created in

order to win more business,

7. A surcharge imposed by the Iraq's on their Qil Allocation makes it

difficult for south African companies, especlally Black Econgmic

Empoweamiant Groups to braak into the market. This is one of the

issues that needs o be addressed by both parties.

i Future Trade Helations in the Qi Sector will be discussad in ordear

ta diversify South Africa’s Crude Oil supply.”.

[189.] The visit by the Director-General, as well as Azyanda Nkulhu (Director of

Ministerial Services and the Minister's Chief of Staff) and Thabo Mafoko

e document 62" in Addendum Cne
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{Internationz| Liaizon of the DME}. was duly recommended. On 11 April
2006 and 3 May 2006 the Cammission wrole o the DME requesting, infer
aliz, all records kept by the DME relating to the meetings held dunng this
vigit. The Commission expecited 1o be provided with a report dealing with
the izzue raiged in paragraph 7 of the Director-General's reqguest which he
should, as a matter of course, have prepared and given to the Minlster on
his return from lrag. These relavant documents have not been

forthcoming. Accordingly the Commission is constrained 1o rely on the

Director-Genearal’s memory of events

[190.] The guestion of what the officials and delegates to Irag were toid
about Iragi surcharge requirements and in particular the ocbligation of
South Africen companies to pay them is fundamantal to the present

enquiry and nesds to be elaboratad upon.



The role of the Mission in menitoring illicit activitias

(181]

{182]

192.1

182.2

In answear to a written question posed by the Commission, the Director-
General of tha OFA, Dr A Nisaluba, said the following,
‘In genaral it is noted that both the Mizzion and the desk saw their
respective roles more as serving as a2 conduit (‘post office’
between the South African companies and the United Mations and
facilitator of the process, than 3s an active participant in the

pracesses

In an urgent briefing, dated 14 May 2001, Nacerodien and Cardy (“the
authors™) alered Ambassador Kumalo to lilicit achvitiez in the Programme
and inadequacy In the screening process al the Mission. The briefing was
headed "4 Contracts with (the) Irag Qil-for-food Programme”. nisr alia.

the authore made the following points-

aouth African contracts with Iraq could be classified into bwo broad

groups.

With reference to the first group, wviz. pil contracts, the Mission hac

received copies of complete applications and contracts from three

Accopy of the lester is annexed to the letier nddraesed 10 the Presidency shich aczom panies this
repairl e fookiate 15 supeo.



192.3

182.4

1924.5

104
pompanies, which it had forwarded fo the OIP for approval. The G661
Committes had approved the contracls of Montega Trading and Metalcor.

The Omni Ol Contract, "which had only recently been submitted”. had not

been appraved at that stage.

The companies invoived in oil fransachions were “acting as inlermediaries
rather than ‘end users’ of the oil (i.e. refineries)’, Save for Metalcor, all but
one of the companies were small, newly registered and had no track
record in the ail industry. It was doubtful whether they had sufficient
avallable capital or proven credit worthiness to purchase ocil from Irag.
Mevertheless large quantities of oil of between two to four million bamels,
al Euro 35 per bamel, were involved. Save for Metalcor there was no
avidence to suggest that the oil was intended for use in South Africa.
Copies of relevanl pages from the Ommi Q0 Ceniract and the Montega

Contract were attached to the briefing.

Omni Oil and Montega were both ‘registered lo the same person”,
Hemphill, who owned ‘a third BA registered company (Falcon Trading)

that supplies non South African goods o Irag and (had) ties with some of

the other SA companies (e.g Arborek)”’,

Allegations were baing made that the lragi Government was imposing “an
llega! =surcharge on each barrel of cil sold, The money (was) allegedly

being paid directly into an lragi bank account over which the UN had no

control”,



182.6

192.7

1828

(193]

There existed an “increasing complexity of the typical contractual chain

between SOMO .., and the end user”,

Due to the number of “intermediaries™ involved, the UN no longer had

accurate records of who was achually purchasing the oil.

& diversion of oil to destinations cther than those authorised by the 861
Committee was taking place, with the result that the Programme was

losing money because the il price differed according to the market it was

intended far.

Their recommendation is significant Wiz,

"In light of the role of the Mission as the official ‘authority’ thal registers

and follows up on the contracts of South African companies in tenms of the

oil-for-food programme, il 18 urgent to ensure that fhe credentials of

companies applying for registration with the OIF be looked at more

carefully. In line with the intended ‘name and shame' palicy that the 861

Commitiee may adopt, it is imporant that the Government not be seen 1o

be supporive of jllegal trade with lrag. The desk may therefore have {o

consider ways of screening companies in terms of the criteria for

registration mentioned abova”
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[184] The proposed new criteria wene:

{a) “Praven credit worthiness and evidence of available capital;

(b} Ewidence that the company had previous experience in the ol

industry:

1) Evidence of membership of infernalionalnational oil/patroleum

grganisations,

(d} Evidence from national authorities of the company's date of

registration;

(e} A brief description of the company's activilies and their involvement

in the petroleum sector”

[195] Significantly the authors regarded the South African companies that were
registered as oil purchasers with the OIP al the time as appearing lo
riateh the profile of "intermedianes™, which the USA and UK were zeeking

to target through the 661 Committes.

[186] Had the recommendation above been acted upon at the time, many
of the lilicit activities, which are now under investigation would

probably have been preventad and South Africe's internaticnal

obligatione would not have been compromised.
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Conclusion

[187.] In view of the contentions made in Parld D above, the Commission

recommends the exenzion of its terms of reference to deal with the

following questions:

187.1 Firstly, whether or nol Majali was involved in a conspiracy with Lexoil to

pay surcharges?

187.2 Secondly, whether or not the representatives of Omni Qil, Lexoil and

Falean perpatrated fraud upon the Mission when they-

ta)  represented the national identity of these enfities to the Mission;

and

(by  failed to dizclose to the Mission that these anlities would conclude
side-agreaments with the |lragis, to pay surcharges and kickbacks,

over and above the official contracts processed under the direction

of the UN.

[1898] In view of the above the Commission respectiully requests the opportunity

to complete the execution of its terma of reference:

(ay  firstly, in order to cornmence the investigation of Reyrolle, Glaxo

Wellcome 54 and Aps Pumps:;



W

(ch

(d}

(€]

secondly, to reissue summonses for the delivery of relevant

putslanding documentation;

thirdly, lo allow Secretary-Genersl Metlanthe and the Director-
General of the Department of Minerals and Energy to deliver replies
to the written guestions which have been posed to them by the

Cammission;

founhly, to allow the Commission to consider 2 reply to questions
that were posed \o Mr Tokyo Bexwazle by the Commission, in
relation io the alleged payment of surcharges by Mocoh, which

reply was received by the Commigsion on 15 June 2006, when this

report was already being finglised,;

fifthly, to guestion the necessary wilnesses, including Mr Rodney
Hemphill, who are able to clarify whether or not a surcharge was
paid in respect of Imvume by or on behalf of Mr Sandi Majali andfor

whether an attempt was made 1o pay surcharges due by Montegz;

gixthly, to Interview Messrs Andries Domehl and Simon Cardy in

regard to the information mentioned above and furher information

which may arise; and
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fgy  seventhly, to prepare  and  formulate  more  thorough
racommendations which would help to prevent a8 recurrence of jllicit
activities on the part of individuals in the future, in accordance with

the request of the Secretary-General of the United Nations.

[198.] The consent of the President to the aforegoing request will enable the
Commission to camy out iis terms of reference and provide ine
Commission with the oppertunity to submit a comprehensive and final

report to the President.

[200] Attermeys representing Mr Rodney Hemphill underook to revert to the
Commission by Friday, 23 June 2006, regarding his attitude towards the
litigation and/or towards assisting the Commission 1o camy out its terms of
reference, They now redquire an extension till Monday, 3 July 2006 in

order to consult with Senior Counsel

[201.] Should resolution of Hermphill's application be achleved. the Commission
would seek to conduct a hearing within 2 month théreof and o present a
final report to the Presidemt shorly thereafler, The consent of the
Frezident to an extension of the date for the Commission's final repoert, to
a date ten weeks after such extension has been formally communicated ko

the Commission, is requested "r.:mrdinglg,r.
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[38.] Conszeguently BMF had a conflict of interest. On the one hand it had to
serve the interest of the UN to promote transparency of transactions. On
the other hand it had to serve the Interests of private clients and maintain
the confidentiality of their business and financing amangements. BNP had
"unique access” to information relating to purchases of oil by shell
companies, which was often accompanied by the assignment of rights and
resale of oil, Typically a large corporate entity such as Glencore would
finance letters of credit in the name of a shell company and would request
the bank not to disclose its paricipation in the fransaction. This would not
ba called to the attention of the UN. Thiz deficiency applied fo the

financing of the Lexoil Contract which is dealt with below.



Fraud and perjury on the part of Hamphill

[81]

[82.]

(B3]

Hemphill addressed a series of documents to the Mission on behalf
of the “Falcon Trading Group™ during 2001, 2002 and 2003. He
represented that this entity was registered in South Africa as a
company known as the Falcon Trading Group, with its principal
place of business situated at 117 Elevanth Street, Parkmore, South
Africa (“the Parkmore address"). Some of these documents are

identified and elaborated upon below.

It Is apposite to mention that Hemphill may have committed parjury
in his founding affidavit in the High Court applicatlon. |n paragraph
27 thereof he stated thal-

"Summons Ne. 13 relates lo me in my capacity as a director of a

company described as 'Falcon Trading Group Limited™. | am not a

director of a company having this name, and am unaware of the

existence of such a company. However, | am a director of a

company known as 'Falcon Commodity Trading (Pty) Limited'

which has been cited as the third applicant in this application®.

Falcon Commaodity Trading (Pty) Ltd was registered on 8 Aprl 2002,

The registered address of this enterprise is given as 34 Monkor Road,

Randburg Ridge, Randburg. I iz not the company that Hemphill



[B4.]

[85]

[86.]

uli
purported to represent when he made representations to the

Mission.

If Hemphill was unaware of the existence of a South African
company known as Falcon Trading Group when he addressed the
aforementioned series of documents to the Mission he perpetrated a
fraud on South Africa’s diplomatic representatives to the UN.

However, the documents contradict his averment

Hemphill not only misled the Mission as to the true identity of
Falcon, but when he did 5o he knew that, in all likelihood, the parson
behind Falcon (Al Khafajij would pay “kickbacks" in Falcon's

business dealings with Irag.

By representing to the Mission that the application for registration of
Falcon was being made on behalf of a South African company (i.e. a
legal person having South African nationality), Hemphill induced the
Mission to process his application for registration of Falcon; and to
associate the Republic of South Africa with Falcon's operations
under the Programme. The process of applying for registration
under the Programme was concluded via the missions of member
states who were bound by Resolutions 661 and 988. These
resolutions had not only imposed sanctions and created the

Programme, but they aiso specifically prohibited direct payments to



[87.]

57
the Iragi regime. The process in question lent the credibility of the
stata of nationality of a company to applications by thelr nationals

and ought to have assured compliance with the resolutions.

lIC documentation shows that Falcon probably paid after-sales-
service fees and inland transportation fees. Al Khafaji signed at least
five “side agreements” in which Falcon agreed to pay a ten percent after-
sales-service fee to the lragi State Trading Company for Construction
Materials®. Three of these side agreemeants also made provision for
infand transportation fees. In the circumstances the Republic of South
Africa was prejudiced or potentially prejudiced by the
misrepresentations contained in documentation forwarded by

Hemphill to UN bodies established under the Programme.

llustrative documentation

(28]

The OFA documents contain information emanating from the Mission ("the
Mission records”). There is a schedule of 37 contracts relating to Falson

that were either approved by the 661 Committee or actually concludad. In

the Mission records Hemphill iz reflected as the Mission's contact for
*Falcon Trading Ltd” with the following contact details:

Tel: 0112711 883 1172
011 27 21 T30 6062
011 27 21 781 0081

Contract MOk 12=0000 OOZT0 ARG OG0 CONTRACT BO&. |0-H-23, 01 1-H-024, 12-00
P02 10 amd one sade agresenent L supply 1 RE Lons oF romd ploincbars. See documents “1° o
“6' o Adibenddurm ne.
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Fax: 0412711 984 00498

0112721 790 6928

0112721 791 DOBE

Call Mo, 0BZ 412 D630

E-mail: felcontrading@ican.co,.2a

T documentation shows that these contact details were shared between

Falcon. Omni and Montaga.

[89.] On 18 October 2001 Hemphill directed a letter to the Mission for the

atterition of Cardy®. The letterhead suggests that it was written on behalf of

the "FALCON TRADING GROUP", having the Parkmore address. An e

mail address, apparently belonging to Al Khafaji, appears on the letterhead
of Hemphill's letter. Cerain addresses at the foot of the same page allude
to the fact that Falcon may also have operated in the USA, Tunisia and |rag.

In thiz letter Hemphill requested the Mission to make applicalion "on our

behalf for the necessary authorities under phase 10 in tamms of the MOU for
the supply from South Africa or the Trans Ukraine... for the supply of 25,
000 tons of vanous sizes of re-enforcing deformed bars...”.  Hemphill

attached Contract No. 10-H-23 from the State Trading Company of lraqg to

hiz letter. Thizs contract wa= one of the five refarred to above, in relation to

which Al Khafaji concluded & side agreement and gave Falcon's

undertaking to pay after-sales-service fees as well as inland transportation
fees. Hemphill, Al Khafaji and Falcon Trading Group were therafore all

assaciated In the payment of the kickbacks ldentified In Contract No.

10-H-23.

S docurment 77 i Addendum G,
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The words "Falcon Trading Group” also appesr opposite the “Company
MName® of the "Supplier” set out in Saction 2 of an "Amendment Summary
Sheet" attached to an amendment to the (humanitarian assistance)
Contract bearing Iragi Contract Mo. 11-0-886™, The UN reference number

was 1201522, The amendment was signed by Hemphill on 3 Movember

2003 above the words:

“izlgnatura)

Rodney S Hemphlll
Director

Falcon Trading Group™

The purpose of this amendment was to reduce the original contract value

of Euro 233, 580.00 by Eurc 21. 780.00; in order to remove the “after

sales service feg”,

This contract was for the supply of 800 air conditioning units. The original

contract had been concluded on 16 June 2002", The parties wera Falcon

Trading Group, with the above-mentioned contact details of Faleon, and

the Ministry of Trade, State Company for Shopping Centres. Baghdad.
The original contract appears to bear the signature of Al Khafaji an bahalf

af Falcon.

Cn 1 July 2002 the Chairman of the 681 Commititee addressed 3

communication to South Africa's parmmanant represantalive to the UM,

B document 8 in Addendum One
By thal date, Oimnd KL which was effectively & puint vonture between Nemphill amd Al Khathji.
bl alrendy madc twe surchargs payinents caceeling 5 1, 0, QU in 1oed,
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Ambassador Kumalo authorising Falcon, to send the air conditioning units

in question to |rag and stating that the exporter, who was refemred to in the

UN documents relating to this contract {with UM reference number

1201522), as "Falcon Trading Group®, was eligible for payment. The

eligibility for payment depended on financing specified in the Mission's

communication to the 661 Commiltee. The payment to be made in

relation to this contract was to be facilitated by a |letter of credit issued by

BNP Paribas, Mew York, in favour of the "Falcen Trading Group,

Parkmore. South Africa™ :

In the Matrix provided by the Mission (“the Matrix"), the authors have
recarded that the value of this contract was Euro 233, 580 and that the air
conditioning units were to be sourced from Saudi Arabia. This was a
“priarity contract”, It was submitted on 18 June 2002 and deemed eligible

for payment on 1 July 2002, The amendment referred to above was

approved on 24 Movemnber 2003,

Meither the documentation in the possassion of the UM nor the Mission,
which relate to the orginal contract, make any reference to after-sales-
service or after-sales-service fees. From the Mission records it appears
that seven amendments of the kind referred to above were effected. The

documentation in question is not at hand, It might have been obtained

Ao docament U9 (REPORT CONCBER NG REOUICST T SHIP GOODS To TRAD IN
ACCORTPANCE WITH RESCOLUTION 986 (19957 AN 133 (19997} in Addendum One,
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Al
from Hemphill under a summons in terms of section 3 of the Commissions

Act. Present constraints prevent this line of investigation.

Hemphill probably managed some of the finances of Falcon. On 18 April
2001, during Phase 9, the Falcen Trading Group {with the Farkmore
addrass) concluded a contract (UN Mo, 900406}, for the supply of 3000
tons of instant full cream milk powder with the lragi State Company for

Foodstuff Trading (Iragi Contract Mo. 09/F0149). On 6 July 2001 a letter

of credit (LS Mo. 1737958) was issued by BNP Parbas in favour of Falcon

Trading Group (with the FParkmore addrezs). The details of the bank

account of Falcon were given as Standard Bank Limited Johannesburg.

The amount was Furo 8. 674, 500 (Furo ning million six hundred and

seventy four thousand five hundred)®. According to the Matnx this

contract involved a fast track application, The milk powder was sourced

from Vietnam. ©On 24 May 2007 the Miszion forwarded Falcon's reguest.

to amend the contract, to the OIF for approval, because Falcon was "now

sourcing goods from Indonesia®.

The impression which had been created in the mind of Mission officials by

Hemphill's representations, up until 14 May 2001, is illustrated in a briefing

(“the Mission brefing’), which was directed to Ambassador Kumalo by two
members of the Mission, Fadl Nacerodien (“MNacerodien”) and Cardy™.

Beneath a heading, "Contract for the Supply of Goods and Services to

See docyment M 107 o Addendum One.
S docirmenl Y 0 Addendwm COne.
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Iraq’, the authors said the following. “Mr Hamphil's new company ‘Falcon
Trading' has recently forwarded four extremely large contractz for the

supply of non-South African produce to lrag. Falcon Trading is registered

AL

an intermediary for supplies from Malaysia, Syria and Vietnam”. At the top

of the same page the briefing states that two companies "{Cmni Qil and

Montega Trading) that have submitted contracts to the OIF via the Mission

are redistered to the same person (Mr. B Hemphill), Mr, Hermphill owns a

third South African registered Company (Falcon Trading) that supplies non

South African goods to Irag ...".  Ineluctably, Hemphill falsely
represented to the Mission that Falcon was a South African
reglstered company in which he was the major shareholder™ and the

officlals at the Miszion wera induced to pass on this represantation

to thae LIN.

Omni Gil

IIC allegatlons

[3B.] Table 1 containg the following information about the activities of Omni Oil,

The "Missian Country” was South Africa. Four contracts were soncluded
with SOMO. The non contractual beneficiary was Al Khafaji. Five and a
half millien barrels of oil were allocated of which 2, 070, 270 barrels were

lifted. According to Table 2 these bamels were lifted under Contract No.

1k

Sew dacyumieat #1227 in Addendim Ome,



[99 ]

0
M/10/24 ("the Omni Contract™). The value of this contract was LS § 38,
550, 168. Surcharges were levied in the amount of US § 621, 081,
Surcharges were paid on the Omni Contract and amountad to US & 621,
000. Table 4 reflects that Bay Oil was the underlying oil financier of thiz

contract and provided a letter of credit for the contract value,

Mr David Chalmers {"Chalmers"), the sole shareholder of Bay Oil. has
been indicted in the US District Court for the Southern District of New
York™, infer alia, on a charge of paying surcharges to Irag. Bay Oil is
alleged to have paid inflated commissions to intermediaries, who then
used a portion thereof to satisfy their own surcharge obligations to the
Government of Irag. (This technique becomes significant when the
Glencore/Montega and Glancore/lmvuma  arrangements  are
considered below.). Between mid 2000 and late 2003 Chalmers is
alleged to have conspired with Iragi officials and others to lobby the il
Owverseers to select a deflated OSP in order to permit the lragis to collect

surcharges more easily.

[100] According to Table 5§ Omni il deposited the following surcharges:

s US % 60. 000.00 at Jordan Mational Bank an 17 July 2001:
¥ US § 540, 0000.00 at Jordan Mational Bank on 5 September 2001;
and

* US § 21, 0000.00 at Jordan Mational Bank on 24 January 2002.

Sew LISA w David [ Chadmers, 1R, anel four others indictment S105 Cr 59 (InZ),
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